
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLORADO 

 
Civil Action No. 07-cv-01814-WDM-MJW 

DEBBIE ULIBARRI; 
ESTATE OF SHAWN FRANCISCO VIGIL; 
COLORADO CROSS-DISABILITY COALITION, a Colorado Corporation; 
COLORADO ASSOCIATION OF THE DEAF, a Colorado Corporation; 
ROGER KREBS; 
SARAH BURKE; 
 

Plaintiffs, 
 
v. 
 
CITY & COUNTY OF DENVER, INCLUDING ITS SHERIFF’S DEPARTMENT; 
ALVIN LACABE, in his official capacity as Manager of Public Safety for the City & County of 
Denver, and in his individual capacity; 
WILLIAM LOVINGIER, in his official capacity as the Director of Corrections and 
Undersheriff for the City & County of Denver, and in his individual capacity; 
RON D. FOOS, in his official capacity as Division Chief for the County Jail Division for the 
City & County of Denver, and in his individual capacity; 
GARY WILSON, in his official capacity as Division Chief for the Pre-Arraignment Detention 
Facility Division, and in his individual capacity; 
GERALD R. WHITMAN, in his official capacity as Chief of Police, and in his individual 
capacity. 
 

Defendants. 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
 

MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT  
______________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Defendants, CITY AND COUNTY OF DENVER, and ALVIN LACABE, WILLIAM 

LOVINGIER, RON D. FOOS, GARY WILSON and GERALD R. WHITMAN, in their 

official capacity, (hereinafter referred to as “Denver”) by the undersigned legal counsel, submit 

the following Motion for Summary Judgment pursuant to Fed.R.Civ.P. 56 and D.C.Colo.LCivR 

56.1 and the Practice Standards of this court. 
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INTRODUCTION 

This lawsuit involves the arrests by Denver police and incarceration by the Denver 

Sheriff Department of three deaf individuals, Shawn Vigil (“Vigil”), Roger Krebs (“Krebs”), and 

Sarah Burke (“Burke”).  Vigil was held as a pretrial detainee from August 17, 2005, until 

September 27, 2005, on three felony charges of 2nd Degree Kidnapping, in violation of C.R.S.  

§ 18-3-302(1), 2nd Degree Sexual Assault, in violation of C.R.S. § 18-3-404(1)(a), and Criminal 

Attempt, in violation of C.R.S. § 18-2-101.  Vigil died at the hospital on October 1, 2005, from 

injuries sustained in his suicide at the Denver County Jail (“county jail”) on September 27, 2005.   

Krebs and Burke were arrested by Denver police in separate incidents in 2007, and held briefly 

at the Pre-Arraignment Detention Facility (“PADF”) and released.  This civil rights lawsuit 

alleges, inter alia, that the arresting Denver police officers should have provided a sign language 

interpreter to Vigil, Krebs and Burke at the time of their arrests; that deputy sheriffs should have 

provided sign language interpreters to Vigil, Krebs and Burke while they were incarcerated; and 

that the defendants are liable for Vigil’s suicide.  

This lawsuit was commenced on August 28, 2007, when the initial Complaint (#1) was 

filed by two plaintiffs, the Estate of Shawn Vigil (“the Estate) and Debbie Ulibarri (“Ulibarri”), 

who is Vigil’s mother.  The Complaint (#1) named as defendants the City and County of Denver 

(“Denver”), and Alvin LaCabe (“LaCabe”) in both his individual capacity and official capacity 

as the Denver Manager of Safety, and “John Does, former and current Administrators of any 

correctional facility maintained, operated, or controlled by the City and County of Denver or the 

Denver Sheriff’s Department in their Official and Individual Capacities.”  This Complaint 

alleged violations of § 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (“RA”); violations of Title II, § 202 
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of the Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”); various theories of civil rights violations; and 

state tort claims, in connection with Vigil’s incarceration and suicide.   

 Plaintiffs filed their first Amended Complaint (#16) on October 24, 2007.  The first 

Amended Complaint brought claims by three additional plaintiffs, the Colorado Cross-Disability 

Coalition (“CCDC”), the Colorado Association of the Deaf (“CAD”), and Krebs.  The 

defendants added to the first Amended Complaint were: William Lovingier (“Lovingier”) in both 

his individual capacity and official capacity as the Director of Corrections and Undersheriff of 

Denver; Ron D. Foos (“Foos”) in both his individual capacity and official capacity as Division 

Chief of the Denver County Jail; and Gary Wilson (“Wilson”) in both his individual capacity and 

official capacity as Division Chief of PADF.   

 Plaintiffs filed their Second Amended and Supplemental Complaint (#48) on February 

25, 2008.  Burke was added as the sixth plaintiff.  Gerald R. Whitman (“Whitman”) was added 

as a defendant in both his individual capacity and his official capacity as Denver Police Chief.    

The first and second Amended Complaints also alleged violations of § 504 of the Rehabilitation 

Act of 1973; violations of Title II, § 202 of the Americans with Disabilities Act; various theories 

of civil rights violations; and state tort claims.  

Denver moves for summary judgment on all claims for relief in the Second Amended 

Complaint.  Denver is entitled to summary judgment on the ADA and RA claims because there 

was no discrimination by the Denver Police Department or the Denver Sheriff Department 

against Vigil, Krebs or Burke on the basis of their disability.  Further, the ADA and RA do not 

apply to arrests, because an arrest is not a program, service or activity to which the ADA and RA 

apply.  Assuming for the purpose of argument that plaintiffs could establish prima facie evidence 
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of discrimination toward Vigil, Krebs and Burke, by the Denver Police Department and the 

Denver Sheriff Department, Denver is entitled to summary judgment on the compensatory 

damages claim for alleged violations of the ADA and RA because there is no prima facie 

evidence of intentional discrimination, and Denver is entitled to summary judgment on the 

equitable claims for relief of a declaratory judgment and injunctive relief, because Krebs and 

Burke have been released from custody and Vigil is deceased, and therefore their equitable relief 

is moot. 

Denver is entitled to summary judgment on all civil rights claims because plaintiffs 

cannot provide prima facie evidence sufficient to establish all of the elements of municipal 

liability.  Denver is entitled to summary judgment on the state tort claims, including the Seventh 

Claim for Relief by Ulibarri and the Estate, alleging negligence in the operation of a jail; the 

Eighth Claim for Relief by Ulibarri for wrongful death relating to Vigil’s suicide; and the Ninth 

Claim for Relief by Ulibarri and the Estate, alleging negligent failure to train and supervise 

police officers and deputy sheriffs.   

A two-year statute of limitations applies to the ADA and RA claims, and the civil rights 

claims, and the state tort claims.  The first complaint in this lawsuit was filed on August 28, 

2007.  Therefore, all of these claims, to the extent that they involve any allegations occurring 

prior to August 28, 2005, are barred by the statute of limitations.  Hence, any allegations 

concerning Vigil’s arrest that occurred on August 17, 2005, and any allegations concerning his 

incarceration between the dates of August 17 and 27, 2005 are barred by the two-year statute of 

limitations.  
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STATEMENT OF UNDISPUTED MATERIAL FACTS1 

Shawn Vigil at PADF and court hearings 
 
1. Vigil was arrested by Denver police on August 17, 2005, and charged in Denver County 

Court Case No. 05F04992, with 2nd Degree Kidnapping, in violation of C.R.S. § 18-3-302(1), 

2nd Degree Sexual Assault, in violation of C.R.S. § 18-3-404(1)(a), and Criminal Attempt, in 

violation of C.R.S. § 18-2-101.  Exhibit A-1, Denver County Court records, Bates No. 001678. 

2. Vigil’s date of birth was August 29, 1982.  He was 22 years old on the date of his arrest.  

Exhibit A-7, Affidavit of Division Chief Gary Wilson, Affidavit Exh. 1, Bates No. 000001.  

3. Vigil was received at PADF on August 17, 2005, at 5:25 am.  Exhibit A-7, Affidavit of 

Division Chief Gary Wilson, Affidavit Exh. 1, Bates No. 000001.  

4. Vigil was seen by nurse Robert Kelly Costin at PADF for a routine initial medical 

assessment on August 17, 2005, at 6:30 am.  Exhibit A-6, Affidavit of Peter Crum, M.D., 

Affidavit Exh. 1, Bates No. 000127. 

5. Vigil’s medical record, the “Denver Sheriff Department Medical Services – Admission 

Assessment,” prepared by nurse Costin (Exhibit A-6, Affidavit of Peter Crum, M.D., Affidavit 

Exh. 1, Bates No. 000127), documents that Vigil denied any current or past mental health 

problems, medications, or alcohol or drug abuse.  His mental status was described as 

“appropriate/oriented” and his behavior as “calm/cooperative.”  The record states “Is deaf.  Does 

not read lips.  Does communicate by writing.  Claims negative for all medical problems, in 

writing.  Housed alone for this reason.”   

                                                 
1 These undisputed material facts (and exhibits and affidavits in support thereof) are identical to the facts 
recited in the motion for summary judgment filed by the defendants in their individual capacity on the 
same date as this motion. 
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6. Nurse Costin does not have a specific recollection of his medical assessment of Vigil.  

Exhibit A-11, Deposition of nurse Robert Kelly Costin, p. 119, ll. 6-12.   

7. Nurse Costin’s routine practice when conducting the initial medical assessment of 

inmates is to ask the inmate if he has a current mental health problem.  If the inmate reports a 

current mental health problem, Costin refers the inmate to a psychiatric nurse for an in-depth 

mental health screening, and to verify psychiatric medications, and to start the inmate on 

prescribed psychiatric medications.  Exhibit A-11, Deposition of nurse Robert Kelly Costin, p. 

56, l. 20 to p. 62, l. 14.  

8. Even if an inmate does not report a current mental health problem, Costin will use his 

nursing judgment to refer the inmate to the psychiatric nurse for further mental health screening, 

if the inmate’s appearance or behavior suggests that he has mental health issues.  Exhibit A-11, 

Deposition of nurse Robert Kelly Costin, p, 59, ll. 8-20. 

9. Nurse Costin believes that the medical assessment is important to determine if the inmate 

is suicidal (Exhibit A-11, Deposition of nurse Costin p. 56, l. 20 to p. 57, l. 10); and that 

identifying suicidal inmates is one of the most important things that jail nurses deal with (Exhibit 

A-11, Deposition of nurse Costin, p. 106, ll. 12-20).    

10. Nurse Costin decided that Vigil should be housed alone at PADF, and that he probably 

housed Vigil alone for a reason other than being deaf.  Exhibit A-11, Deposition of nurse Costin, 

p. 124, ll. 18-20.  

11. Nurse Costin’s usual practice when making a housing decision for a deaf inmate is not to 

house the deaf inmate alone, so that the deaf inmate has a cellmate who can get attention for any 

of the deaf inmate’s needs.  (Exhibit A-11, Deposition of nurse Costin, p. 124, ll. 15-18, and ll. 
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23-25).  However, Costin would house a deaf inmate alone for reasons of the inmate’s safety, for 

example, if a deaf inmate looks like he could be victimized by other inmates, or if it appeared 

that the deaf inmate may not get along with other inmates.  (Exhibit A-11, Deposition of nurse 

Costin, p. 124, ll. 9-11; p. 125, ll. 4-8).   

12. While Vigil was at PADF, he used a TDD telephone for deaf people to call his 

grandmother’s house, where there was a TDD telephone.  Exhibit A-14, Deposition of Debbie 

Ulibarri, p. 95, l. 24 to p. 96, l. 9.  His mother, Debbie Ulibarri, did not have a TDD telephone at 

her house.  Exhibit A-14, Deposition of Debbie Ulibarri, p. 88, ll. 7-9.   

13. Vigil had his initial court appearance before a Denver County Court Judge on August 18, 

2005, in Case No. 05F04992, and his bond was set at $100,000.  Exhibit A-1, Denver County 

Court Records, Bates No. 001678.   

14. A sign language interpreter was provided for Vigil at the August 18, 2005 court hearing, 

and he was represented by the public defender.  Exhibit A-4, Affidavit of Lorrie Kosinski, ¶ 8.   

15. Vigil’s next court hearing was for his second advisement on August 24, 2005.  A sign 

language interpreter was provided for Vigil at this court hearing, and he was represented by the 

public defender.  Exhibit A-4, Affidavit of Lorrie Kosinski, ¶ 8; and Exhibit A-1, Denver County 

Court records, Bates No. 001678.     

16. Vigil’s next court hearing was set as his preliminary hearing on September 16, 2005.  

Vigil was represented by the public defender.  The preliminary hearing was continued to October 

7, 2005.  Exhibit A-1, Denver County Court records, Bates No. 001678 and 001679. 

17. A sign language interpreter was provided for Vigil at the September 16, 2005 court 

hearing.  Exhibit A-4, Affidavit of Lorrie Kosinski, ¶ 9.   
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Shawn Vigil at the county jail 

18. Vigil was transferred from PADF to the Denver County Jail on August 25, 2005.  Exhibit 

A-5, Affidavit of Sgt. John Romero, ¶ 4, and Affidavit Exh. 1, Bates No. 000880.  

19. In August 2005, when Vigil was received at the county jail, an average of 50 inmates 

were received each morning, six days a week, and processed into the county jail.  Routine 

processing by deputy sheriffs included a search of each inmate; a shower and uniform for each 

inmate; an individual meeting with a deputy sheriff for the purpose of classification and cell 

assignment; and medical screening. Exhibit A-5, Affidavit of Sgt. Romero, ¶ 5.   

20. On the day that Vigil arrived at the county jail, he met with Deputy Sheriff Randy 

Coleman, who was a classification officer, and together they completed the “Denver County Jail 

Classification Intake Questionnaire” for Vigil.  Exhibit A-12, Deposition of Deputy Randy 

Coleman, p. 62, ll. 9-19, and Deposition Exhibit 25.  

21. The Denver County Jail Classification Intake Questionnaire (Exhibit A-12, Deposition of 

Deputy Randy Coleman, Deposition Exhibit 25) documents that: Vigil had never attempted 

suicide; that he did not request any special accommodations; that he was not taking any 

medication; that he had seen a doctor at the city jail, that he did not ask to see the medical staff at 

the county jail; and that he had never been in the Denver County Jail before. 

22. The Classification Intake Questionnaire also has a section for “observations by deputy 

sheriff” where the classification officer is supposed to observe the inmate and make a note if the 

inmate appears to be “injured, disabled, sick, anxious, withdrawn, hostile, depressed, under the 

use of alcohol/drugs, aggressive, confused suicidal.”  Exhibit A-12, Deposition of Deputy Randy 
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Coleman, p. 65, ll. 7-17, and Deposition Exhibit 25.    None of these conditions were noted about 

Vigil on the Classification Intake Questionnaire.      

23. Vigil signed the Classification Intake Form.  Exhibit A-12, Deposition of Deputy Randy 

Coleman, Deposition Exhibit 25.   

24. Deputy Coleman does not recall Vigil.  Exhibit A-12, Deposition of Deputy Randy 

Coleman, p. 58, ll. 12-14.  

25. Deputy Coleman’s usual practice when completing the Classification Intake 

Questionnaire with a deaf inmate is to show the inmate the Classification Intake Questionnaire, 

and have the inmate point to the answer of yes or no.  Exhibit A-12, Deposition of Deputy Randy 

Coleman, p. 49, ll. 18-23.  

26. Deputy Coleman’s usual practice is to ask the inmate to review the completed 

Classification Intake Questionnaire, and to sign it if he agrees with it.  Exhibit A-12, Deposition 

of Deputy Randy Coleman, p. 22, ll. 16-25. 

27. Deputy Coleman’s routine practice after completing the classification questionnaire was 

to provide the inmate with the inmate handbook, and then the inmate went next to the medical 

unit.  Exhibit A-12, Deposition of Deputy Randy Coleman, p. 29, ll. 21-24, and p. 23, 11. 1-6. 

28. Vigil’s classification at the county jail was Administrative Segregation.  Exhibit A-5, 

Affidavit of Sgt. Romero, ¶ 6.  

29. The purposes of classification were, and are, to assign the inmate to appropriate housing, 

which provides for inmate safety, and accomplishes better custodian organization, supervision, 

management and control of inmates, and improves inmate morale which results in fewer 

disciplinary problems.  These purposes are achieved by a classification questionnaire which 
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deals with issues including the inmate’s mental, emotional, and physical condition, attitude, 

prejudices, age, emotional maturity, past jail experience, and the nature of the current charges.   

Exhibit A-5, Affidavit of Sgt. Romero, ¶ 7. 

30. The classification of Administrative Segregation is a non-punitive classification 

consisting of confinement to a single cell, which may be imposed for the inmate’s safety.   An 

inmate may be classified in Administrative Segregation if he is unable to live in the general 

population for any reason.  Exhibit A-5, Affidavit of Sgt. Romero, ¶ 8.            

31. Because Vigil had a high bond of $100,000 and he had felony sex assault charges, he 

would typically have been housed in a maximum security building with violent inmates.  

However, Vigil was classified as Administrative Segregation, which was appropriate, in order to 

keep him safe from other inmates in the facility, and taking into consideration the information 

recorded in Vigil’s Classification Intake Questionnaire (Romero Affidavit Exh. 2).  Vigil was at 

greater risk of harm from other inmates in the general population, because he was charged with 

sex assault, he had never been in the county jail before, and because of his young age, and 

deafness.  Exhibit A-5, Affidavit of Sgt. Romero, ¶ 9.          

32. Vigil was housed in Building 6 of the county jail which houses special management 

inmates, including those who are classified as Administrative Segregation.  Exhibit A-5, 

Affidavit of Sgt. Romero, ¶ 6.   

33. In 2005, inmates in Administrative Segregation retained the same privileges as inmates in 

the general population, including out-of-cell time, recreation time, television time, library time, 

access to telephones and showers, and the opportunity to be a tier clerk, who acts as a 
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representative for the inmates in bringing inmate issues and concerns to the jail staff, and also 

does chores outside of his cell.  Exhibit A-5, Affidavit of Sgt. Romero, ¶ 12.     

34. In 2005, the televisions in Building 6 had closed-captioning, that could be selected if an 

inmate requested it.  Exhibit A-5, Affidavit of Sgt. Romero, ¶ 13.   

35. TDD telephones have been available for use by deaf inmates in Building 6 from before 

2005 to the present.  If a deaf inmate requested use of the TDD, he would be allowed to use it 

during the regular telephone time for inmates in Building 6.  Exhibit A-5, Affidavit of Sgt. 

Romero, ¶ 14.   

36. In 2005, inmates in Administrative Segregation were separated from the general 

population of inmates, but they were not isolated from other inmates in Building 6.  In 2005, 

inmates in Administrative Segregation had interaction with other inmates in Building 6, from one 

inmate’s cell to another, and when they had out-of-cell time, and recreation time, and when 

watching television.  They also had daily interaction with the inmate-tier clerks.  Inmates in 

Administrative Segregation also interacted with other inmates when their cell assignment was 

changed, if another inmate assisted with the move by carrying a mattress or other personal 

belongings.  Exhibit A-5, Affidavit of Sgt. Romero, ¶ 15.   

37. In 2005, inmates in Administrative Segregation were not isolated from the deputy sheriffs 

or the medical staff.  These inmates had interaction with the deputy sheriffs who conducted 

rounds twice each hour, twenty-four hours of every day.  In 2005, these inmates also had 

interaction with staff and the tier clerks when their meals were delivered to their cells three times 

each day.  In 2005, there were five daily shifts of Sergeants, who each made one round of every 

inmate cell during the Sergeant’s shift.  Exhibit A-5, Affidavit of Sgt. Romero, ¶ 16.     
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38. In 2005, inmates in Administrative Segregation also had the opportunity for interaction 

with the nurses, who were accompanied by a deputy sheriff, and made rounds to their cells three 

times each day.  Also, there was a separate segregation round, for every inmate who was in 

Building 6, that was conducted once each week by the nurse, accompanied by a deputy sheriff.  

During the weekly segregation round, the inmates had the opportunity to report problems to the 

nurse, and the nurse also observed each inmate to see if he was having any problems.  Inmates in 

Building 6 also had the same opportunity as all inmates to submit a medical kite, which is a 

written request for medical attention for a non-emergency medical issue.  Inmates could give the 

medical kite to the nurse during rounds or to a deputy sheriff at any time.  Medical kites were 

reviewed by the nursing staff every day.  Exhibit A-5, Affidavit of Sgt. Romero, ¶ 17.      

39. Deputy sheriffs who are assigned to special management in Building 6 are specially 

selected because they have above average interpersonal communication skills; they have the 

ability to deal effectively with the various classifications of inmates housed in special 

management; and they demonstrate good problem-solving abilities.  Exhibit A-5, Affidavit of 

Sgt. Romero, ¶ 10.    

40. In 2005, there were two deputy sheriffs in Building 6 who knew sign language, and were 

available if needed to communicate with a deaf inmate.  Deputy sheriffs also communicated with 

deaf inmates by exchanging written notes.  Exhibit A-5, Affidavit of Sgt. Romero, ¶ 11.    

41. All deputy sheriffs are expected to know and follow all Sheriff Department procedures 

and orders, including those concerning suicide prevention and suicide in the jail that were in 

effect in 2005.  Exhibit A-5, Affidavit of Sgt. Romero, ¶ 23.    
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42. In August and September 2005, Deputy Roy Line contacted each inmate in Building 6 

once each week, including Vigil, and asked the inmate two questions: “Are you having any 

problems?” and “Do you want to see the administrative review board?”  Exhibit A-5, Affidavit 

of Sgt. Romero, ¶ 19.    

43. On August 28, September 11, September 18, and September 25, 2005, Vigil 

communicated to Deputy Line that he was not having any problems.  Exhibit A-5, Affidavit of 

Sgt. Romero, ¶ 20, and Affidavit Exh. 4 (Bates Nos. 001316, 001326, 001329, 001333, 001447, 

001342, 001350, 001359).    

44. On August 28, September 18 and September 25, Vigil also communicated to Deputy Line 

that he wanted to see the Administrative Review Board.  Exhibit A-5, Affidavit of Sgt. Romero, 

¶ 20, and Affidavit Exh. 4 (Bates Nos. 001316, 001326, 001329, 001333, 001447, 001342, 

001350, 001359).     

45. Vigil was not able to be seen by the Administrative Review Board during the week of 

August 28 because of time constraints, staff availability, and the high volume of special 

management inmates.  During the week of September 18, Vigil declined to meet with the board, 

just prior to the meeting.  During the week of September 25, 2005, Vigil did not meet with the 

board because of his suicide on September 27, 2005.  Exhibit A-5, Affidavit of Sgt. Romero,  

¶ 20, and Affidavit Exh. 4 (Bates Nos. 001318, 001338, 001352) 

46. The Administrative Review Board reviewed Vigil’s records each week, concerning his 

classification and housing, even if Vigil did not attend the Administrative Review Board 

meeting.  During the time that Vigil was at the county jail, there was no change in his 
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circumstances that would have resulted in a change in his classification.  Exhibit A-5, Affidavit 

of Sgt. Romero, ¶ 21.   

47. The Denver Sheriff Department visitor record for Shawn Vigil documents that Vigil did 

not have any visitors while he was incarcerated at the Denver County Jail.  Exhibit A-5, 

Affidavit of Sgt. Romero, ¶ 22, and Affidavit Exh. 3, Bates No. 001314.   

48. Vigil’s medical record documents that he was not seen for any medical problems while 

he was at the county jail, until he was treated for his suicide.  Exhibit A-6, Affidavit of Peter 

Crum, M.D., ¶ 18, and Affidavit Exh. 1, Bates Nos. 000124 to 000132.    

49. From August 2005 to the present, the routine practice at the county jail has been for the 

deputy sheriffs to accompany nurses on their rounds of every inmate cell two or three times per 

day, when the nurses pass medication and communicate with inmates about their medical 

problems, and the nurses look into each cell to observe each inmate.  Exhibit A-6, Affidavit of 

Peter Crum, M.D., ¶ 14.     

50. In August and September 2005, the routine practice at the county jail was for the nursing 

staff to make an additional round each week to see all of the inmates who were housed in the 

Special Management area in Building 6 of the county jail.  This was called a “segregation 

round.”  The nurse was required to complete a subjective assessment and an objective 

assessment of each inmate in special management, and to complete a form that is part of the 

inmate’s medical record.  Exhibit A-6, Affidavit of Peter Crum, M.D., ¶ 15.  

51. Vigil’s medical record documents that he was seen by a nurse each week on the 

segregation round.  According to Vigil’s medical record, there were no problems reported by 

Vigil, or observed by the nurse on the following dates:  August 27, 2005, September 3, 2005, 
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September 10, 2005, September 17, 2005, and September 24, 2005.  Exhibit A-6, Affidavit of 

Peter Crum, M.D., ¶ 16.   

52. The routine multiple daily nursing rounds and the weekly nursing round for inmates in 

Building 6, special management, provided ample opportunity for Vigil to receive medical 

attention.  Exhibit A-6, Affidavit of Peter Crum, M.D., ¶ 17. 

53. Dr. Crum, who was the Medical Director when Vigil’ suicide occurred, reviewed the 

medical record and medical information concerning him soon after his suicide.  Dr. Crum 

concluded that there was no evidence of high risk behavior by Vigil that would be a warning sign 

of suicide, and that his suicide was not preventable.  Exhibit A-6, Affidavit of Peter Crum, M.D., 

¶ 19.     

54. Vigil never complained to his mother about the conditions at the jail.  Exhibit A-14, 

Deposition of Debbie Ulibarri, p. 128, ll. 7-9. 

55. Vigil never complained to his mother that he was having any trouble, problems, or 

difficulties in jail.  Exhibit A-14, Deposition of Debbie Ulibarri, p. 75, l. 24 to p. 76, l. 4. 

56. Vigil never complained to his mother that he felt isolated at the jail.  Exhibit A-14, 

Deposition of Debbie Ulibarri, p. 128, ll. 19-21. 

57. Vigil never complained to his mother about the treatment that he received from the jail 

deputies.  Exhibit A-14, Deposition of Debbie Ulibarri, p. 128, ll. 22-25. 

58. Vigil never complained to his mother that he was not able to communicate with the 

deputies at the jail.  Exhibit A-14, Deposition of Debbie Ulibarri, p. 130, ll. 6-9. 

59. Vigil never complained to his mother that he did not have access to medical treatment 

while he was in jail.  Exhibit A-14, Deposition of Debbie Ulibarri, p. 130, ll. 10-12. 
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60. Vigil wrote a letter to his mother while he was incarcerated and did not report that he was 

having any problems or difficulties in jail.  Exhibit A-14, Deposition of Debbie Ulibarri, p. 121, 

ll. 10-13. 

61. Debbie Ulibarri testified that Vigil had never attempted suicide before going to jail, and 

never discussed suicide with her, even when he was in jail.  Exhibit A-14, Deposition of Debbie 

Ulibarri, p. 116, l. 24 to p. 117, l. 9. 

62. Vigil never gave any indication to anyone else that he was thinking about suicide, either 

while in jail, or before going to jail, according to Debbie Ulibarri.  Exhibit A-14, Deposition of 

Debbie Ulibarri, p. 118, ll. 8-15. 

63. Debbie Ulibarri never contacted personnel at the Denver Sheriff Department to report any 

problems or concerns about her son Shawn Vigil.  Exhibit A-14, Deposition of Debbie Ulibarri, 

p. 95, ll. 14-19. 

64. Debbie Ulibarri never contacted personnel at the Denver Sheriff Department to let them 

know that Vigil would be a suicide risk, and neither did anyone else to her knowledge.  Exhibit 

A-14, Deposition of Debbie Ulibarri, p. 127, ll. 2-6, and 10-19. 

65. Debbie Ulibarri went to her son’s court hearings and never told the judge that Vigil was a 

suicide risk.  Exhibit A-14, Deposition of Debbie Ulibarri, p. 127, ll. 7-9. 

66. Prior to his incarceration, Vigil communicated with his mother and his siblings by writing 

notes.  Exhibit A-14, Deposition of Debbie Ulibarri, p. 37, ll. 2-14; p 38, ll. 7-9. 

67. Writing notes was Vigil’s preferred means of communication.  Exhibit A-14, Deposition 

of Debbie Ulibarri, p. 37, ll. 2-14.  
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68. Vigil communicated with people in the community by writing notes.  Exhibit A-14, 

Deposition of Debbie Ulibarri, p. 44, l. 6 to p. 46, l. 14.  

69. Vigil communicated with his brother, Brandon Ulibarri, by writing notes.  Exhibit A-15, 

Deposition of Brandon Ulibarri, p. 28, l. 12 to p. 29, l. 5. 

70. It was effective for Brandon Ulibarri and Shawn Vigil to communicate by writing notes.  

Exhibit A-15, Deposition of Brandon Ulibarri, p. 29, ll. 14-16. 

71. The most common way for Vigil to communicate with family members was by writing 

notes.  Exhibit A-15, Deposition of Brandon Ulibarri, p. 30, l. 20 to p. 31, l. 2.    

The morning of the suicide 

72. At approximately 8:55 am on the morning of September 27, 2005, inmate Marvin Wilson 

was out of his cell, and he found Vigil hanging.  Exhibit A-19, Deposition of Major Phil Deeds, 

p. 36, l. 14 to p. 37, l. 9, and Deposition Exhibit 48, Bates Nos. P000592 and P000597-99. 

73. Inmate Wilson informed two deputy sheriffs on duty, Deputies Dave Pacheco and Robert 

Pablo about Vigil’s hanging.  Exhibit A-19, Deposition of Major Phillip Deeds, Deposition 

Exhibit 48, Bates Nos. P000597-98. 

74. Pacheco immediately went to Vigil’s cell and radioed for help from medical staff and 

supervising officers at approximately 9:03 am.  Exhibit A-19, Deposition of Major Phillip Deeds, 

Deposition Exhibit 48, Bates No. P000592 and P000594.   

75. Deputies used a rescue tool to cut Vigil from his noose.  Exhibit A-19, Deposition of 

Major Phillip Deeds, Deposition Exhibit 48, Bates No. P000594.     

76. Nursing staff arrived within two minutes and began CPR on Vigil.  Exhibit A-19, 

Deposition of Major Phillip Deeds, Deposition Exhibit 48, Bates No. P000593.     
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77. An ambulance was called at approximately 9:05 am and the Fire Department paramedics 

arrived at 9:11 am and continued performing CPR.  Exhibit A-19, Deposition of Major Phillip 

Deeds, Deposition Exhibit 48, Bates No. P000593.     

78. Vigil was transported by ambulance to the hospital at 9:30 am.  Exhibit A-19, Deposition 

of Major Phillip Deeds, Deposition Exhibit 48, Bates No. P000593.     

79. A sergeant called Denver Police who arrived at the county jail at approximately 9:20 am, 

took statements and processed the scene.  Exhibit A-19, Deposition of Major Phillip Deeds, 

Deposition Exhibit 48, Bates No. P000593.        

80. On the morning of Vigil’s suicide, the nurse made a round to each cell in Building 6 at 

6:00 am.  Exhibit A-19, Deposition of Major Phillip Deeds, Deposition Exhibit 48, Bates No. 

P000599. 

81. At 6:15 am, the deputies moved through Building 6 to transfer inmates who were 

scheduled for court that day.  Exhibit A-19, Deposition of Major Phillip Deeds, Deposition 

Exhibit 48, Bates No. P000599. 

82. Breakfast was then served to inmates in their cells, until 7:30 am.  Exhibit A-19, 

Deposition of Major Phillip Deeds, Deposition Exhibit 48, Bates No. P000599. 

83.  From 7:30 am to 7:55 am, juveniles in Building 6 were let out of their cells.  Exhibit  

A-19, Deposition of Major Phillip Deeds, Deposition Exhibit 48, Bates No. P000599. 

84. Deputy Pacheco made a round past Vigil’s cell tier at about 8:25 am.  Exhibit A-19, 

Deposition of Major Phillip Deeds, Deposition Exhibit 48, Bates No. P000596. 
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Denver Sheriff Department Internal Affairs Bureau Investigation 

85. Major Phillip Deeds (“Deeds”) was the commander of the Denver Sheriff Department 

Internal Affairs Bureau (“IAB”) at the time of Vigil’s suicide.  Exhibit A-19, Deposition of 

Major Philip Deeds, p. 31, ll. 4-9. 

86. Deeds assigned an investigator to conduct the investigation into Vigil’s suicide.  Exhibit 

A-19, Deposition of Major Philip Deeds, p. 31, ll. 4-9. 

87. The scope of the investigation was to determine if Denver Sheriff Department personnel 

followed Department policies and procedures.  Exhibit A-19, Deposition of Major Phillip Deeds, 

p. 32, ll. 4-8.  

88. Deeds reviewed the Vigil investigation when it was completed, to ensure that relevant 

witnesses were interviewed, and that the interviews were complete, and that relevant evidence 

was collected and reviewed.  Exhibit A-19, Deposition of Major Phillip Deeds , p. 32, ll. 9-16.   

89. The IAB commander does not determine if Department policies and procedures were 

followed.  This determination is made by the Division Chief.  Exhibit A-19, Deposition of Major 

Phillip Deeds, p. 19, ll. 15-24.  

PADF routine in 2007 (when Krebs and Burke were arrested)  

90. In the booking process at PADF, a deputy sheriff records information about the inmate’s 

medical problems, social security number, scars, marks or tattoos, and any other names they use 

(AKA’s), and obtains this information either from the inmate, or from the arresting officer, or 

from the arrest documents.  A computer generated charge slip is given to the prisoner showing 

their charge and bond amount, and the inmate is provided with a copy of the charges upon which 
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they are being held, either from the arresting officer or from the booking officer.  Exhibit A-7, 

Affidavit of Division Chief Gary Wilson, ¶ 4. 

91. Every inmate brought into PADF is triaged and medically screened by the medical staff 

in as timely a manner as possible after book-in.  Exhibit A-7, Affidavit of Division Chief Gary 

Wilson, ¶ 5.   

92. During the entire time that inmates are housed at PADF, when a deputy sheriff feels an 

inmate requires medical attention, the officer should inform the nurse of the inmate’s concern 

and request instructions.  Exhibit A-7, Affidavit of Division Chief Gary Wilson, ¶ 6.    

93. Inmates are not allowed to have a cell phone or pager while they are incarcerated at 

PADF for safety and security reasons.  Other inmates could seize a cell phone or pager and use it 

to communicate with someone outside of the facility in furtherance of an escape attempt, or 

criminal activity.  Exhibit A-7, Affidavit of Division Chief Gary Wilson, ¶ 7. 

94. All inmates have access to a toilet and to a sink with a drinking fountain at all times, 

throughout the booking process and while they are held in the housing cells at PADF.  Exhibit A-

7, Affidavit of Division Chief Gary Wilson, ¶ 8.  

95. There have been two TDD’s available for deaf inmates to use since at least 2000 at 

PADF.  One TDD is located in a Sergeant’s office, and the other TDD is in the lobby of the 

building and is available for public use.  Exhibit A-7, Affidavit of Division Chief Gary Wilson,  

¶ 9.    

96. Since at least 2000, all inmates at PADF have had access to a telephone twice daily, and 

deaf inmates at PADF have access to the TDD telephone twice daily.  Exhibit A-7, Affidavit of 

Division Chief Gary Wilson, ¶ 10. 
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97. In 2008, a videophone for deaf inmates was installed at PADF.  Deaf inmates have access 

to the videophone twice daily, and in addition, an inmate may request use of the videophone for 

a special circumstance when a deputy sheriff makes rounds.  Exhibit A-7, Affidavit of Division 

Chief Gary Wilson, ¶ 11. 

98. There were no televisions at PADF for inmates to watch while they were incarcerated.  

Exhibit A-7, Affidavit of Division Chief Gary Wilson, ¶ 12. 

99. Throughout 2007, deputy sheriffs at PADF made rounds twice each hour, throughout the 

day.  In addition, each sergeant on duty made a separate round of all inmate cells, on every shift.  

The rounds by the deputy sheriffs and the sergeants provided an opportunity for inmates to get 

the attention of staff if needed.  Exhibit A-7, Affidavit of Division Chief Gary Wilson, ¶ 13.  

100. Throughout 2007, deputy sheriffs communicated by exchanging written notes with deaf 

inmates, and the deputies could request a sign language interpreter if needed to communicate 

with a deaf inmate.  Exhibit A-7, Affidavit of Division Chief Gary Wilson, ¶ 14. 

101. There is an enclosed foyer at the public entrance to PADF where released inmates or the 

public can wait for someone to pick them up, at any time of the day or night.  Exhibit A-7, 

Affidavit of Division Chief Gary Wilson, ¶ 15.  

Roger Krebs 

102. Roger Krebs was arrested by Denver police on March 29, 2007 at 10:40 p.m., after an 

incident with security guards at the Greyhound Bus Station in Denver.  Exhibit A-16, Deposition 

of Roger Krebs, p. 73, ll. 13-17, and Deposition Exh. 1, Bates No. 000888. 

103. The charges alleged: that a security guard found Krebs in an area of the bus station that 

was closed for maintenance and he told Krebs to move; that Krebs refused and the security guard 
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put his hands on Krebs to move him; and that Krebs bit the security guard on the hand.  Exhibit 

A-16, Deposition of Roger Krebs, and Deposition Exh. 1, Bates No. 000888.  

104. A Denver police officer was called to the scene and arrested Krebs based upon the 

security guards’ report.  Krebs was charged with municipal ordinance violations of disorderly 

conduct, assault and trespass.  A security guard signed as the Complainant.  Exhibit A-16, 

Deposition of Roger Krebs, and Deposition Exh. 1, Bates No. 000888.  

105. Krebs describes the following incident with the security guard: he encountered a security 

guard at the bus station who told him to move (Krebs deposition, p. 60, ll.10-20); the security 

guard got angry at Krebs and grabbed him because Krebs yelled at the security guard (Krebs 

deposition, p. 60, ll. 10-20); when the security guard grabbed him, Krebs bit the security guard 

hard on the arm (Krebs Deposition, p. 61, ll. 19-23); the security guard pushed Krebs, and Krebs 

bit him again (Krebs deposition, p. 61, l. 24 to p. 62, l. 3).  Exhibit A-16, Deposition of Roger 

Krebs.  

106. The security guard placed handcuffs on Krebs.  Exhibit A-16, Deposition of Roger Krebs, 

p. 62, ll.22-25. 

107. Krebs claimed that his hands were turning purple from the handcuffs, and the police 

officer noticed that, and instructed the security guard to loosen the handcuffs.  Exhibit A-16, 

Deposition of Roger Krebs, p. 63, l. 24 to p. 64, l. 11. 

108. Krebs injured his ankle during the scuffle with the security guard.  Exhibit A-16, 

Deposition of Roger Krebs, p. 62, l. 2 to p. 62, l.3.   
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109. Krebs testified that the police officer noticed that Krebs’ ankle was swollen and purple, 

and the police officer called an ambulance.  Exhibit A-16, Deposition of Roger Krebs, p. 68,  

ll. 5-22.        

110. Krebs was able to understand the arresting police officer reasonably well, and testified 

that the police officer was “a nice guy.”  Exhibit A-16, Deposition of Roger Krebs, p. 70,  

ll. 16-19. 

111. Krebs was taken by ambulance to the hospital, where he was diagnosed with a sprained 

ankle, and provided with two crutches which he took with him to jail.  Exhibit A-16, Deposition 

of Roger Krebs, p. 69, ll. 15-18; p. 72, ll. 2-6; p. 74, ll. 2-9. 

112. Krebs arrived at PADF at 3:27 a.m. on March 30, 2007.  Exhibit A-7, Affidavit of 

Division Chief Gary Wilson, ¶ 20, and Affidavit Exh. 2, Bates No. 000234.  

113. Krebs was seen by the nurse at PADF for a medical screening at 4:30 a.m. on March 30, 

2007.  Exhibit A-7, Affidavit of Division Chief Gary Wilson, ¶ 21, and Affidavit Exh. 3, Bates 

No. 000233.   

114. The “Denver Sheriff Department Medical Services – Admission Assessment Record,” 

(Exhibit A-7, Affidavit of Division Chief Gary Wilson, ¶ 21, and Affidavit Exh. 3, Bates No. 

000233) documents that Krebs was deaf and mute; that he was on crutches because of a sprained 

right ankle; and that he “will need to write to communicate or signing interpreter.”   

115. Krebs was housed alone at PADF, based upon the nurse’s assessment, for two reasons:  

he was deaf and had crutches.  Exhibit A-7, Affidavit of Division Chief Gary Wilson, ¶ 22, 

Affidavit Exh. 4, Bates No. 000241.  
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116. Krebs had his crutches with him the entire time that he was incarcerated at the city jail.  

Exhibit A-16, Deposition of Roger Krebs, p.79, ll. 2-8.  

117. Because Krebs needed crutches during his entire incarceration at PADF, it was 

appropriate to house him alone, for his own safety, and the safety of other inmates and staff, 

because his crutches could have been used by him or by another inmate to cause injury.  Exhibit 

A-7, Affidavit of Division Chief Gary Wilson, ¶ 23.    

118. Later in the same day of August 30, 2007, Krebs appeared before a judicial officer for a 

hearing on his municipal ordinance violations.  Exhibit A-2, Denver County Court Records re 

Roger Krebs, Bates No. 001682.   

119. Krebs was advised in writing of his rights.  Exhibit A-2, Denver County Court Records re 

Roger Krebs, Bates Nos. 001687 and 001688. 

120. Krebs and the judicial officer communicated by writing notes back and forth.  Exhibit  

A-16, Deposition of Roger Krebs, p. 86, l. 18, to p. 87, l. 22, and Deposition Exh. 2, Bates No. 

000889.  

121. Krebs circled the word “guilty” on the note that he exchanged with the judicial officer.  

Exhibit A-16, Deposition of Roger Krebs, p. 87, ll. 11-18, and Deposition Exh. 2.     

122. Krebs pled guilty to the three municipal ordinance violations, and was sentenced to one 

day in jail, with credit for time served.  Exhibit A-2, Denver County Court Records re Roger 

Krebs, Bates No. 001682. 

123. Krebs testified that he pled guilty because he was guilty of biting the security guard.  

Exhibit A-16, Deposition of Roger Krebs, p. 87, ll. 18-22.   
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124. Krebs was released from PADF at 7:00 p.m. on the same day.  Exhibit A-7, Affidavit of 

Division Chief Gary Wilson, ¶ 24, and Affidavit Exh. 2, Bates No. 000234.  

125. Krebs did not have a TTY telephone in his home in 2007.  Exhibit A-16, Deposition of 

Roger Krebs, p. 25, ll. 1-7. 

126. Krebs has four years of college education.  Exhibit A-16, Deposition of Roger Krebs,  

p. 36, ll. 5-7; p. 42, ll. 4-6. 

127. Krebs took written college tests and submitted written papers in college.  Exhibit A-16, 

Deposition of Roger Krebs, p. 37, l. 19 to p. 38, l. 8.  

128. Krebs was employed full-time at Ft. Carson in Colorado Springs for four years.  Exhibit 

A-16, Deposition of Roger Krebs, p. 46, l. 24 to p. 47, l. 3. 

129. Krebs communicates with his boss at work by writing notes.  Exhibit A-16, Deposition of 

Roger Krebs, p. 49, ll. 12 and 13. 

130. Krebs communicates with his co-workers at work by writing notes or by gestures.  

Exhibit A-16, Deposition of Roger Krebs, p. 50, ll. 12-15. 

131. Krebs’ employer does not provide any assistance for him at work because of his deafness.  

Exhibit A-16, Deposition of Roger Krebs, p. 51, ll. 21-25. 

132. Krebs uses a computer at home to access the internet and to exchange e-mail.  Exhibit  

A-16, Deposition of Roger Krebs, p. 55, l. 23 to p. 56, l. 22. 

Sarah Burke 

133. Sarah Burke was arrested on August 29, 2007, by Denver police officer Joseph Merino 

on an arrest warrant issued by Arapahoe County.  Exhibit A-17, Deposition of Police Officer 

Joseph Merino, p. 9, 11. 2-21. 
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134. Arapahoe County Court issued an arrest warrant for Burke which was a “Warrant for 

Failure to Comply” on June 19, 2007, in Case No. 2004M201587.  Exhibit A-3, Arapahoe 

County Court records, Bates No. 001656. 

135. Burke was charged in Arapahoe County Court Case No. 2004M201587 with 

misdemeanor child neglect, in violation of C.R.S. § 18-6-401(1) and (7)(b)(I), on August 2, 

2004.  Exhibit A-3, Arapahoe County Court records, Bates No. 001619.  

136. On March 14, 2007, Burke pleaded guilty to the misdemeanor child neglect charge and 

received a twelve-month deferred sentence which required her to complete parenting classes.  

Exhibit A-3, Arapahoe County Court records, Bates No. 001645 to 001649. 

137. On June 19, 2007, the Arapahoe County District Attorney filed a motion to revoke 

Burke’s deferred judgment and sentence on the grounds that she had not completed parenting 

classes.  Exhibit A-3, Arapahoe County Court records, Bates No. 001652. 

138. On June 19, 2007, the Arapahoe County Court issued its “Warrant for Failure to Comply” 

in Case No. 2004M201587, which authorized the arrest of Burke, and a cash or surety bond in 

the amount of $2000.  Exhibit A-3, Arapahoe County Court records, Bates No. 001656.   

139. Denver police were called to Burke’s Denver residence on August 29, 2007, to do a 

welfare check on her children.  Exhibit A-17, Deposition of Police Officer Joseph Merino, p. 12, 

l. 16 to p. 13, l. 3.  

140.  The Denver police officers determined that the living conditions in the home were 

adequate.  Exhibit A-17, Deposition of Police Officer Joseph Merino, p. 13, ll. 10-13. 
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141. While the police officers were at Burke’s residence, they made a call to check for arrest 

warrants for Burke and her husband.  Exhibit A-17, Deposition of Police Officer Joseph Merino, 

p. 20, l. 25 to p. 21, l. 4.  

142. The police officers were informed that there was an active arrest warrant for Burke, and 

they arrested her on the warrant.  Exhibit A-17, Deposition of Police Officer Joseph Merino, p. 

20, l. 25 to p. 21, l. 4.      

143. Officer Merino testified that he was able to communicate with Burke by writing notes, 

and by having her oldest child do sign language interpreting.  Exhibit A-17, Deposition of Police 

Officer Joseph Merino, p. 15, ll. 13-14, and p. 21, ll. 13-15 .  

144. Officer Merino testified that neither Burke nor her husband ever requested a sign 

language interpreter.  Exhibit A-17, Deposition of Police Officer Joseph Merino, p. 17, ll. 11-16.    

145. Officer Merino believed that he had effective communication with Burke.  Exhibit A-17, 

Deposition of Police Officer Joseph Merino, p. 37, ll. 11-23. 

146. Burke understood that she was being arrested for “contempt.”  Exhibit A-18, Deposition 

of Sarah Burke, p. 25, ll. 21-24; p. 30, ll. 7-12. 

147. The Arapahoe County Court records show data entry of a warrant issued for Burke for 

“contempt.”  Exhibit A-3, Arapahoe County Court records, Bates No. 001659. 

148. Officer Merino described Burke as very compliant, and that at no time did she act as if 

she was not getting something that she needed, or that she had any type of emergency.  Exhibit 

A-17, Deposition of Police Officer Joseph Merino, p. 23, l. 23 to p. 24, l. 12. 
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149. Officer Merino testified that he always allows people who are arrested to bring their 

medications with them, upon the person’s request.  Exhibit A-17, Deposition of Police Officer 

Joseph Merino, p. 28, ll. 8-12.   

150. Burke was then transported to a Denver police substation.  Exhibit A-17, Deposition of 

Police Officer Joseph Merino, p. 30, l. 17 to p. 31, l. 9.  

151. Burke was held at a Denver police district station, until she was transported to PADF.  

Exhibit A-17, Deposition of Police Officer Joseph Merino, p. 32, l. 5 to p. 33, l. 19.  

152. Burke arrived at PADF at 9:19 p.m., on August 29, 2007.  Exhibit A-7, Affidavit of 

Division Chief Gary Wilson, ¶ 25, Affidavit Exh. 5, Bates No. 001295.  

153. Burke was seen by the nurse for a medical screening at 10:00 p.m., on August 29, 2007.  

Exhibit A-7, Affidavit of Division Chief Gary Wilson, ¶ 26, Affidavit Exh. 6,  Bates No. 000857.  

154. The “Denver Sheriff Department Medical Services – Admission Assessment Record,” 

(Exhibit A-7, Affidavit of Gary Wilson, Affidavit Exh. 6,  Bates No. 000857), documents that 

Burke was deaf; that she writes well/legibly; that she wrote to the nurse that she took insulin at 

approx 1630 prior to dinner and then was arrested before she could eat.  

155. Burke testified that she communicated to the nurse that she took insulin at approximately 

4:30 pm prior to dinner, and that she was arrested before she could eat.  Exhibit A-18, Deposition 

of Sarah Burke, p. 38, l. 25 to p. 39, l. 6, l0 to p. 45, l. 5.   

156. According to the medical record, Burke’s blood sugar was tested and the result of 377 

was recorded in the medical record; and the nurse consulted with the on-call doctor before giving 

an insulin injection to Burke.  The nurse noted in the medical record that Burke received a sack 

lunch.  Exhibit A-7, Affidavit of Gary Wilson, Affidavit Exh. 6, Bates No. 000857. 
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157. Nurse Pippenger testified that if the medical record noted a sack lunch, then he provided 

it to the inmate.  Exhibit A-13, Deposition of nurse Lowell Pippenger, p. 51, l. 16 to p. 53, l. 13.    

158. The nurses kept a stock of sack lunches in a refrigerator at the nurses’ station to provide 

to inmates who needed one.  Exhibit A-13, Deposition of nurse Lowell Pippenger, p. 54,  

ll. 19-25. 

159. Burke posted a bond on August 29, 2007, at 10:36 pm.  Exhibit A-1, Arapahoe County 

Court records, Bates No. 001658-001659. 

160. Before her release, Burke was given the opportunity to use a TDD/TTY device at PADF 

to contact her husband.  Exhibit A-18, Deposition of Sarah Burke, p. 44, l0 to p. 45, l. 5.  

However, Burke did not have a TTY in her home.  Exhibit A-18, Deposition of Sarah Burke,  

p. 44, ll. 15, 16.  

161. Burke was given bus tokens by a deputy sheriff.  Exhibit A-18, Deposition of Sarah 

Burke, p. 45, ll. 13-16.  

162. She was released from PADF at 2:00 a.m. on August 30, 3007.  Bates No. 001295.  

163. Burke attended a community college for three months.  Exhibit A-18, Deposition of 

Sarah Burke, p. 19, ll. 5, 6. 

164. Burke communicates with hearing people, including her co-workers, by writing notes, or 

with body language and gestures.  Exhibit A-18, Deposition of Sarah Burke, p. 13, ll. 8-12; p. 21, 

ll. 20-22. 

165. Burke exchanges e-mails with her children’s teachers.  Exhibit A-18, Deposition of Sarah 

Burke, p. 32, ll. 18-24. 
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Accommodations for deaf inmates and training re deaf people      

166. The City of Denver has made sign language interpreter services available, 24 hours each 

day, and seven days a week, upon request by the Denver Police Department and the Denver 

Sheriff Department, since the early 1990’s.  Exhibit A-4, Affidavit of Lorrie Kosinski, ¶ 7.  

167. The City of Denver employs a full-time sign language interpreter, Lorrie Kosinski, who 

is available upon request of any City agency, including the Denver Police Department and the 

Denver Sheriff Department.  Exhibit A-4, Affidavit of Lorrie Kosinski, ¶ 1.  

168. Periodically Ms. Kosinski sends a written notice to the Denver Police Department, the 

Denver Sheriff’s Department, and the Denver County Court, which explains how to obtain sign 

language interpreter services.  Exhibit A-4, Affidavit of Lorrie Kosinski, ¶ 8, and Affidavit  

Exh. 3.  

169. The Denver Sheriff’s Department has had telecommunication devices for the deaf 

(“TDD’s,” also called “TTY’s”) available for deaf inmates since at least 1988.  The TDD’S have 

been available at the Pre-Arraignment Detention Facility (“PADF”) and at the Denver County 

Jail for both inmates and visitors’ use. Relay Colorado, the third party operator-assisted toll-free 

service, has been available for inmates’ use since its inception around the mid-1990’s.  Relay 

Colorado allows for a deaf inmate using a TDD to make a phone call to any hearing person 

outside of the jail who does not have a TDD.  Exhibit A-4, Affidavit of Lorrie Kosinski, ¶ 11.   

170. The Denver Sheriff’s Department installed a Sorenson VP-200 videophone at the Denver 

County Jail soon after this technology became available in 2007, and installed a Sorenson VP-

200 videophone at PADF in 2008.  A deaf inmate using the videophone can communicate with a 

deaf person at another location who also has a videophone. A toll-free Video Relay Service is 
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also available, by which a deaf inmate using the videophone at the jail can communicate with a 

sign language interpreter who appears on a monitor via a web camera and translates between a 

deaf inmate and any hearing person outside of the jail who does not have a videophone.  The 

Denver County Jail and PADF were the first local correctional facilities in Colorado to have a 

Sorenson VP-200 videophone for deaf inmates.  Exhibit A-4, Affidavit of Lorrie Kosinski, ¶ 12.  

171. All television sets within the Denver County Jail have closed caption capabilities.  

Exhibit A-4, Affidavit of Lorrie Kosinski, ¶ 13.  

172. Ms. Kosinski has held numerous meetings over the past 20 years between police and 

sheriff personnel and deaf citizens regarding deaf access issues at the jails and with police.  

These meetings include reciprocal learning opportunities between Denver police and sheriff and 

members of the deaf community.  Exhibit A-4, Affidavit of Lorrie Kosinski, ¶ 14. 

173. Ms. Kosinski has provided a two-hour training for the Denver Sheriff’s Department at the 

pre-service training academy since the early 1990’s.  Exhibit A-4, Affidavit of Lorrie Kosinski,  

¶ 3.     

174. The training provided to the Denver Sheriff’s Department covers topics including: how to 

work with a sign language interpreter; terminology about communication with deaf people; 

descriptions of the deaf and hard of hearing communities; recognizing deafness; attention-getting 

strategies with deaf people; communication modes including sign language, lip-reading, written 

communication, gestures; auxiliary aids including TDD/TTY, text pagers and videophones; and 

how to obtain a sign language interpreter.  Each recruit receives a brochure that encapsulates the 

above information as well as the City’s protocol for emergency interpreter call-out.   Ms. 

Kosinski also has class members engage in one or more role-playing exercises where they get a 
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taste of the deaf person’s world.  Each training presentation is co-presented by a deaf instructor, 

with additional deaf guests invited to assist in the training from time to time.  A group of legal 

sign language interpreters, hearing and deaf, worked together to develop the curriculum that I use 

at both the police and sheriff training classes.  Exhibit A-4, Affidavit of Lorrie Kosinski, ¶ 4, and 

Affidavit Exh. 1. 

175. Ms. Kosinski has provided training at the pre-service training academy of the Denver 

Police Department for every academy class since her employment with the City of Denver in 

1987.  She provided an all-day training in the 1980’s and into the 1990’s.  The training 

presentation was changed to a two-hour training, and then to a one-hour training.  Exhibit A-4, 

Affidavit of Lorrie Kosinski, ¶ 5.  

176. The training provided to the Denver Police Department covers topics including: how to 

work with a sign language interpreter; terminology about communication with deaf people; 

descriptions of the deaf and hard of hearing communities; recognizing deafness; attention-getting 

strategies with deaf people; communication modes including sign language, lip-reading, written 

communication, gestures; auxiliary aids including TDD/TTY, text pagers and videophones; and 

how to obtain a sign language interpreter.  Each recruit receives a brochure that encapsulates the 

above information as well as the City’s protocol for emergency interpreter call-out.  Ms. 

Kosinski also has class members engage in one or more role-playing exercises where they get a 

taste of the deaf person’s world.  Each training presentation is co-presented by a deaf instructor, 

with additional deaf guests invited to assist in the training from time to time.  The interpreter 

protocol and training brochure is sent to all police officers at least every other year.  Exhibit A-4, 

Affidavit of Lorrie Kosinski, ¶ 5 and Affidavit Exh. 2. 
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177. Ms. Kosinski has provided a hand-out to the police and sheriff’s training classes which 

provides information on how to obtain a sign language interpreter.  Exhibit A-4, Affidavit of 

Lorrie Kosinski, ¶ 6, and Affidavit Exh. 3. 

178. Michael W. Haley is the defendants’ retained expert witness regarding acceptable 

practices in the management and care of inmates.  The Rule 26(a)(2) expert disclosure, with his 

expert report and curriculum vitae, is contained in Exhibit A-20. 

179. Mr. Haley reviewed policies of the Denver Sheriff Department concerning deaf inmates, 

suicide prevention, medical services for inmates, and inmate classification.  Exhibit A-20, p. 3 of 

report.   

180. Mr. Haley also reviewed training materials used by the Denver Sheriff Department 

concerning deaf inmates, medical care for inmates, and suicide prevention.  Exhibit A-20, p. 3 of 

report.  

181. Mr. Haley also reviewed the report of the Denver Sheriff Department Internal Affairs 

Bureau (“IAB”) investigation into the suicide of Shawn Vigil.  Exhibit A-20, p. 3 of report.   

182. Mr. Haley offered the expert opinions that Shawn Vigil’s suicide was not preventable, 

nor was it predictable.  Exhibit A-20, p. 11 of report. 

183. Mr. Haley’s expert opinion is that deputy sheriffs were adequately trained concerning 

suicidal inmates and deaf inmates.  Exhibit A-20, p. 15 of report. 

 Alvin LaCabe  

184. Alvin LaCabe was appointed by the Denver Mayor as the Manager of Safety on August 

11, 2003.  As the Manager of Safety, he has management responsibilities regarding the Denver 

Police Department and the Denver Sheriff Department, pursuant to the Denver Charter and 

Case 1:07-cv-01814-WDM-MJW     Document 197      Filed 09/17/2009     USDC Colorado     Page 33 of 64



 34 

municipal ordinances, and as delegated by the Denver Mayor.  Exhibit A-8, Affidavit of Alvin 

LaCabe, ¶ 1.   

185. LaCabe had no personal involvement, no interaction, and no communication with Shawn 

Vigil, Roger Krebs, or Sarah Burke when they were arrested or incarcerated.  Exhibit A-8, 

Affidavit of Alvin LaCabe, ¶ 2. 

186. LaCabe was not informed of any of the circumstances of the arrests of Shawn Vigil, 

Roger Krebs, or Sarah Burke until he was served with this lawsuit.  Exhibit A-8, Affidavit of 

Alvin LaCabe, ¶ 3. 

187. LaCabe was not informed of any of the circumstances of the incarceration of Roger 

Krebs or Sarah Burke during the time that they were incarcerated at PADF, and only became 

aware of their allegations when he was served with this lawsuit.  Exhibit A-8, Affidavit of Alvin 

LaCabe, ¶ 4. 

188. LaCabe was not informed of any of the circumstances of the incarceration of Shawn Vigil 

during the time that he was incarcerated.  He recalls that he first became aware of Vigil’s suicide 

when he was informed about the results of the Denver Sheriff Department Internal Affairs 

investigation concerning Vigil’s suicide.  Exhibit A-8, Affidavit of Alvin LaCabe, ¶ 5. 

189. LaCabe has no authority to formulate medical protocols at PADF or the county jail, nor 

does any other employee of the Department of Safety.  Exhibit A-8, Affidavit of Alvin LaCabe,  

¶ 6. 

190. LaCabe has no authority for training or supervising the nurses and doctors who worked at 

PADF or the county jail, concerning any medical issues, nor does any other employee of the 

Department of Safety have such authority.  Exhibit A-8, Affidavit of Alvin LaCabe, ¶ 7.       

Case 1:07-cv-01814-WDM-MJW     Document 197      Filed 09/17/2009     USDC Colorado     Page 34 of 64



 35 

William Lovingier 

191. William Lovingier has been employed by the Denver Sheriff Department since March 20, 

1978.  Exhibit A-9, Affidavit of William Lovingier, ¶ 1. 

192. Lovingier was the Division Chief of the Technology Support and Projects Division of the 

Denver Sheriff Department from July 1, 2003, until February 28, 2006.  In this position, he was 

not responsible for the direct supervision of any deputy sheriffs at the Denver County Jail or at 

PADF.  Exhibit A-9, Affidavit of William Lovingier, ¶ 2.    

193. Lovingier was appointed as the interim Director of Corrections and Undersheriff on 

March 1, 2006, and was appointed by the Denver Mayor as the Director of Corrections and 

Undersheriff on May 15, 2006.  Exhibit A-9, Affidavit of William Lovingier, ¶ 3.    

194. In Lovingier’s positions as Division Chief and later as Undersheriff, he has had no 

authority for training or supervising the nurses and doctors who worked at PADF or the county 

jail, concerning any medical issues.  Exhibit A-9, Affidavit of William Lovingier, ¶ 4     

195. In Lovingier’s positions as Division Chief and later as Undersheriff, he has had no 

authority to formulate medical protocols at PADF or the county jail.  Exhibit A-9, Affidavit of 

William Lovingier, ¶ 5 

196. Lovingier had no personal involvement, no interaction, and no communication with 

Shawn Vigil, Roger Krebs, or Sarah Burke while they were incarcerated with the Denver Sheriff 

Department.  Exhibit A-9, Affidavit of William Lovingier, ¶ 6 

197. Lovingier was not informed of any of the circumstances of the incarceration of Shawn 

Vigil, Roger Krebs, or Sarah Burke during the time that they were incarcerated, and only became 
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aware of their allegations when he was served with this lawsuit.  Exhibit A-9, Affidavit of 

William Lovingier, ¶ 7.  

Ron D. Foos 

198. Ron D. Foos was employed by the Denver Sheriff Department from April 12, 1976, until 

his retirement on March 31, 2009.  Exhibit A-10, Affidavit of Ron D. Foos, ¶ 1. 

199. Foos was the Division Chief of the Denver County Jail from January 1, 2004, until his 

retirement.  Exhibit A-10, Affidavit of Ron D. Foos, ¶ 2    

200. During the time that Foos was the Division Chief at the Denver County Jail, he did not 

supervise the deputy sheriffs who worked at PADF.  Exhibit A-10, Affidavit of Ron D. Foos,  

¶ 3. 

201. As the Division Chief at the county jail, Foos had no authority for training or supervising 

the nurses and doctors who worked at PADF or the county jail, concerning any medical issues.  

Exhibit A-10, Affidavit of Ron D. Foos, ¶ 4.     

202. As the Division Chief at the county jail, Foos had no authority to formulate medical 

protocols at PADF or the county jail.  Exhibit A-10, Affidavit of Ron D. Foos, ¶ 5. 

203. Foos had no personal involvement, no interaction, and no communication with Shawn 

Vigil while he was incarcerated, until the morning of his suicide, when Foos was called 

immediately to Vigil’s cell.  Exhibit A-10, Affidavit of Ron D. Foos, ¶ 6. 

204. Foos was not informed of any of the circumstances of Vigil’s incarceration during the 

time that he was incarcerated, until the morning of Vigil’s suicide, when Foos was called 

immediately to Vigil’s cell.  Exhibit A-10, Affidavit of Ron D. Foos, ¶ 7.  

Case 1:07-cv-01814-WDM-MJW     Document 197      Filed 09/17/2009     USDC Colorado     Page 36 of 64



 37 

205. After the Denver Sheriff Department Internal Affairs investigation concerning Vigil’s 

suicide was completed, Foos reviewed the investigation and determined that there was 

compliance with Sheriff Department procedures throughout Vigil’s incarceration.  Foos 

reviewed the investigation to determine if there were any ways that the jail staff could be more 

efficient or effective.  Exhibit A-10, Affidavit of Ron D. Foos, ¶ 8. 

206. Foos had no personal involvement, no interaction, and no communication with Roger 

Krebs or Sarah Burke while they were incarcerated at PADF.  Exhibit A-10, Affidavit of Ron D. 

Foos, ¶ 9. 

207. Foos was not informed of any of the circumstances of the incarceration of Krebs or Burke 

during the time that they were held at PADF, and only became aware of their allegations when 

he was served with this lawsuit.  Exhibit A-10, Affidavit of Ron D. Foos, ¶ 10. 

Gary Wilson  

208. Gary Wilson has been employed by the Denver Sheriff Department since March 16, 

1992.  He is currently assigned as the Division Chief of the Technology Support and Projects 

Division of the Denver Sheriff Department.  Exhibit A-7, Affidavit of Gary Wilson, ¶ 1. 

209. Wilson was the Division Chief of PADF from July 2006 until February 9, 2009.  Exhibit 

A-7, Affidavit of Gary Wilson, ¶ 2.  

210. Wilson was assigned to the Denver County Jail for six years as an officer, and for an 

additional three years as a Major from 2003 to 2006.  Exhibit A-7, Affidavit of Gary Wilson, ¶ 3. 

211. As the Division Chief at PADF, Wilson had no authority for training or supervising the 

nurses and doctors who worked at PADF or the county jail, from 2005 through 2007, concerning 

medical issues.  Exhibit A-7, Affidavit of Gary Wilson, ¶ 16.     
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212. Wilson has never had authority to formulate medical protocols at PADF or the county 

jail.  Exhibit A-7, Affidavit of Gary Wilson, ¶ 17. 

213. Final authority concerning medical matters rests with the medical staff, not with 

employees of the Denver Sheriff Department.  Exhibit A-7, Affidavit of Gary Wilson, ¶ 18. 

214.  Wilson had no personal involvement, no interaction, and no communication with Vigil 

while he was incarcerated, until after Vigil committed suicide, when Wilson was called 

immediately to Vigil’s cell.  Exhibit A-7, Affidavit of Gary Wilson, ¶ 28.  

215. Wilson was not informed of any of the circumstances of Vigil’s incarceration during the 

time that Vigil was incarcerated, until after Vigil committed suicide, when Wilson was called 

immediately to Vigil’s cell.  Exhibit A-7, Affidavit of Gary Wilson, ¶ 29.  

216. Wilson had no personal involvement, no interaction, and no communication with Krebs 

or Burke while they were incarcerated.  Exhibit A-7, Affidavit of Gary Wilson, ¶ 31. 

217. Wilson was not informed of any of the circumstances of the incarceration of Krebs or 

Burke during the time that they were held at PADF.  Exhibit A-7, Affidavit of Gary Wilson,  

¶ 32.  

ARGUMENT 

I. Standard of review 

Summary judgment is proper when there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and 

the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.  Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c); Celotex v. Catrett, 

477 U.S. 317, 322 (1986).  A dispute is “genuine” if the issue could be resolved in favor of either 

party.  Farthing v. City of Shawnee, 39 F.3d 1131, 1135 (10th Cir. 1994).  A fact is “material” if 

it might reasonably affect the outcome of the case.  Farthing, 39 F.3d at 1134. 
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Where “the moving party does not bear the ultimate burden of persuasion at trial, it may 

satisfy its burden at the summary judgment stage by identifying a lack of evidence for the 

nonmovant on an essential element of the nonmovant’s claim.”  Bausman v. Interstate Brands 

Corp., 252 F.3d 1111, 1115 (10th Cir. 2001) (internal citation and quotation omitted).  To avoid 

summary judgment, the nonmoving party must set forth specific facts showing that there is a 

genuine issue for trial as to those dispositive matters for which it carries the burden of proof.  

Applied Genetics Int’l, Inc., v. First Affiliated Securities Inc., 912 F.2d 1238, 1241 (10th Cir. 

1990).  The nonmoving party may not rest upon mere allegations in its pleadings.  Anderson v. 

Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 248 (1986).  The nonmoving party must present enough 

evidence to allow a reasonable jury to find for the nonmoving party.  Vitkus v. Beatrice Co., 11 

F.3d 1535, 1539 (10th Cir. 1993).  The evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to 

the party opposing summary judgment.  Simms v. Oklahoma ex rel Dept. of Mental Health and 

Substance Abuse Services, 165 F.3d 1321, 1326 (10th Cir.), cert. denied, 120 S.Ct. 53 (1999). 

 II. § 504 of the Rehabilitation Act and Title II, § 202, of the ADA (First and Second 
Claims for Relief)  

 
Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act prohibits discrimination against the disabled by 

recipients of federal funding.  29 U.S.C. § 794(b)(3); Barnes v. Gorman, 536 U.S. 181, 184-85 

(2002).  To establish a prima facie claim under § 504 of the Rehabilitation Act, a plaintiff must 

demonstrate that: 

(1) that plaintiff is handicapped under the Act; (2) [plaintiff] is otherwise qualified 
to participate in the program; (3) the program receives federal financial 
assistance; and (4) the program discriminates against plaintiff 
 

Barber ex rel. Barber v. Colo. Dept. of Revenue, 562 F.3d 1222, 1228 (10th Cir. 2009).  
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To recover compensatory damages under § 504, a plaintiff must establish that the 

agency’s discrimination was intentional, which may be inferred from a defendant’s deliberate 

indifference.  Id.  The test for deliberate indifference in the context of intentional discrimination 

comprises two elements: “(1) knowledge that a harm to a federally protected right is substantially 

likely, and (2) a failure to act upon that likelihood.” Barber, 562 F.3d at 1229 (internal quotation 

marks and citation omitted).  The level of intent required to satisfy the failure to act element of 

deliberate indifference is more than negligent conduct and involves an element of deliberateness.  

Id.           

Title II, § 202, of the Americans with Disabilities Act prohibits discrimination against the 

disabled by public entities, including PADF and the Denver County Jail.  42 U.S.C.  

§ 12132; Robertson v. Las Animas County Sheriff’s Dept., 500 F.3d 1185, 1193 (10th Cir. 

2007).   Section 203 of the ADA declares that the “remedies, procedures, and rights set forth in  

[§ 505(a)(2) of the Rehabilitation Act] shall be the remedies, procedures, and rights this 

subchapter provides” for violations of § 202.  42 U.S.C. § 12133; Barnes v. Gorman, 536 U.S. at 

184-85.  

In order to state a claim under Title II of the ADA, a plaintiff must prove that (1) he is a 

qualified individual with a disability; (2) he was excluded from participation in or denied the 

benefits of a public entity’s services, programs, or activities; and (3) such exclusion, denial of 

benefits, or discrimination was because of his disability.  Robertson, 500 F.3d at 1193.   

Claims for compensatory damages for mental and emotional injury are not available under the 

ADA absent intentional discrimination.  Tyler v. City of Manhattan, 118 F.3d 1400, 1404 (10th 

Cir. 1997).  Punitive damages may not be awarded in private suits brought under § 202 of the 
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ADA that prohibits discrimination against the disabled by public entities, and § 504 of the 

Rehabilitation Act which prohibits discrimination against the disabled by recipients of federal 

funding.  Barnes v. Gorman, 536 U.S. at 189.   

The lawsuit bringing ADA and RA claims on behalf of Vigil’s estate was filed on August 

28, 2007 (Complaint, #1).  Colorado’s general two-year statute of limitations, C.R.S. § 13-80-

102, applies to actions arising under Title II of the ADA and the RA.  See Quinn v. Univ. of 

Okla., 276 Fed.Appx. 809, 810-11 (10th Cir. 2008) (unpublished); Wilkins v. Colo. Dept. of Soc. 

Servs., 9 Fed. Appx. 818, 819 (10th Cir. 2001) (unpublished).  Federal law controls when federal 

causes of action accrue.  Alexander v. Oklahoma, 382 F.3d 1206, 1215 (10th Cir. 2004).  In 

general, under the federal discovery rule, claims accrue and the statute of limitations begins to 

run when the plaintiff knows or has reason to know of the injury which is the basis of his action.  

Id.     

The ADA and RA claims that are based upon Vigil’s arrest are barred by the two-year 

statute of limitations, because Vigil’s arrest occurred on August 17, 2005, and the first 

Complaint (#1) was filed on August 28, 2007, more than two years after the date of his arrest.  

Moreover, any alleged violations of the ADA and the RA that occurred while Vigil was 

incarcerated at PADF are all barred by the two-year statute of limitations, because Vigil was 

incarcerated at PADF from August 17, 2005, until August 25, 2005.  Finally, any alleged 

violations of the ADA and the RA that occurred while Vigil was incarcerated at the Denver 

County Jail from August 25 through 27, 2005, are also barred by the two-year statute of 

limitations.   
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Defendants will assume that Vigil, Burke and Krebs were “qualified individuals with a 

disability.”  However, a police arrest is not a “service, program, or activity” for which Title II of 

the ADA applies.  Rosen v. Montgomery County, Maryland, 121 F.3d 154, 157 (4th Cir. 1997).  

Therefore, the claims of all three plaintiffs as they relate to their arrests by Denver police are not 

authorized by the ADA or the RA.  Even if the ADA and RA applied to an arrest, there is no 

basis to argue that Krebs and Burke were discriminated against because they were not provided 

with sign language interpreters when they were arrested.  There was no lack of effective 

communication at the time of their arrests, because there was no communication that needed to 

occur, but did not, and therefore no need for a sign language interpreter when they were arrested.    

 Plaintiffs allege that Denver discriminated against Vigil, Krebs, and Burke, by isolating 

them solely on the basis of their disability; by failing to provide them with sign language 

interpreters; and by depriving them of essential assistive devices or equipment, such as access to 

TTY telephone systems, video phones, and closed-captioned programming (Second Amended 

and Supplemental Complaint, #48, ¶ ¶ 111 and 120).  Plaintiffs further allege that Denver 

discriminated against Burke by not allowing her to use her personal diabetes medications at the 

jail, and by not giving her access to food, water, and bathroom breaks.  (Second Amended and 

Supplemental Complaint, #48, ¶ 120).  Krebs alleges that he was not provided with a sign 

language interpreter when he was booked into PADF, and that he was unable to communicate 

effectively with treatment providers.  (Second Amended and Supplemental Complaint, #48, ¶ ¶ 

48, 49).  Krebs also alleges that he was not provided with a sign language interpreter at his 

arraignment, and that he pleaded guilty in Denver County Court to municipal ordinance 
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violations because he did not want to spend more time in jail waiting for the court to obtain a 

sign language interpreter (Second Amended and Supplemental Complaint, #48, ¶ ¶ 55, 56).  

Vigil 

 Plaintiffs have no prima facie evidence that Vigil ever asked for a sign language 

interpreter at any time while he was incarcerated.  Plaintiffs have no prima facie evidence that 

there was a lack of effective communication between Vigil and the nurse who performed his 

medical screening at PADF on August 17, 2005.  Plaintiffs have no evidence that any of the 

medical information recorded for Vigil during his medical screening at PADF on August 17, 

2005, was inaccurate in any way.  The evidence is undisputed that Vigil had no history of suicide 

attempts prior to his incarceration.  There is no prima facie evidence that Vigil was depressed at 

the time of his medical screening, or at any time when he was incarcerated.   

Plaintiffs have no prima facie evidence that there was a lack of effective communication 

between Vigil and the classification officer, deputy sheriff Randy Coleman, when Vigil’s 

classification intake questionnaire was completed.  Plaintiffs have no prima facie evidence that 

any information recorded for Shawn Vigil on the classification intake questionnaire was 

inaccurate concerning a lack of prior suicide attempts or any mental health problems.  Similarly, 

plaintiffs have no prima facie evidence that Vigil displayed any problematic behaviors at the 

time that his classification intake questionnaire was completed.  

 There is no prima facie evidence that Vigil was isolated solely on the basis of his 

deafness.  To the contrary, the evidence is undisputed that there were numerous opportunities for 

Vigil to interact with the jail staff, the nursing staff, and other inmates.  His classification in 

Administrative Segregation was based upon numerous facts that are not in dispute: his felony sex 
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assault charge, his $100,000 bond, his young age, and his lack of prior experience at the county 

jail, in addition to his deafness.  

It is undisputed that deaf inmates had access to TDD’s at PADF and the county jail to the 

same extent that all inmates were allowed telephone access.  There is no evidence that Vigil was 

ever denied the opportunity to use the TDD telephones at PADF or at the county jail.  To the 

contrary, it is undisputed that Vigil used a TDD telephone at PADF to call his grandparents’ 

home.  It is also undisputed that the televisions in Building 6 where Vigil was housed have 

closed-captioning.     

Krebs 

Krebs’ argument that he was discriminated against because he was not provided with a 

sign language interpreter when he was arrested is without merit.  It is undisputed that the 

arresting officer provided Krebs with a document stating the charges upon which he was 

arrested, and that the arresting officer provided Krebs with prompt medical attention for the 

injuries that Krebs sustained in his scuffle with the security guards at the bus station.  Krebs 

admitted that he understood the police officer reasonably well, and described the arresting officer 

as “a nice guy.”  There was no lack of effective communication at the time of his arrest, because 

there was no communication that needed to occur, but did not, and therefore no need for a sign 

language interpreter when Krebs was arrested.   

Krebs’ argument that he was discriminated against because he was not provided with a 

sign language interpreter when he was booked into PADF is without merit.  The booking record 

includes basic information about each inmate including name, date of birth, medical issues, the 

time that the inmate was received at PADF and booked at PADF, and information about the 
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charges on which the inmate is held including the arresting officer, the arrest date, the offenses 

charged.  The booking officer obtains this information either from the inmate, or from the 

arresting officer, or from the arrest documents.  The booking officer also gives each inmate a 

computer generated charge slip that shows their charge and bond amount.  There was no lack of 

effective communication with the booking officer, because there was no communication that 

needed to occur, but did not, and therefore no need for a sign language interpreter when Krebs 

was booked into PADF.   

It is undisputed that Krebs received prompt and appropriate medical care for the injuries 

sustained in his scuffle with the security guards at the bus station, first at the hospital, and then 

promptly upon his arrival at PADF.  Krebs’ argument that he was discriminated against because 

he was not provided with a sign language interpreter when the nurse at PADF performed his 

medical screen is without merit.  Plaintiffs have no prima facie evidence that any of the 

information in the medical record is inaccurate, or that Krebs needed medical attention that he 

did not receive.  There was no lack of effective communication concerning his medical needs, 

because there was no communication that needed to occur, but did not, and therefore no need for 

a sign language interpreter when Krebs was seen by the nurse at PADF.      

Krebs’ argument that he was isolated solely on the basis of his deafness is without merit.  

It is undisputed that he had crutches in his possession during the entire time that he was 

incarcerated at PADF.  It was appropriate to house him alone, for his own safety, and the safety 

of other inmates and staff, because his crutches could have been used by another inmate to cause 

injury.     
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It is undisputed that Krebs was brought before a Denver County Court judicial officer on 

the same day that he was booked into PADF.  Even if the court did not provide Krebs with a sign 

language interpreter, he was advised by the Denver County Court in writing that he had the right 

to plead not guilty and to have a trial (Exhibit A-2, Bates No. 001687-88).  The same written 

advisal of rights explained to Krebs that if he was in custody (jail) he could be released and given 

a new date if he paid bail, or if the court authorized a personal recognizance bond.  Krebs signed 

this written advisal as part of the statement, “I, Roger Krebs, the defendant in this case, hereby 

acknowledge that I have read and understand the contents of this document, and I gave up my 

right to any further explanation of my rights by the Court.”  Krebs alleges that he pled guilty to 

the municipal ordinance charges because he did not want to spend more time in jail waiting for 

the court to obtain a sign language interpreter.  However, this argument is contradicted by his 

own signed statement in the Denver County Court file advising him of his rights to be released 

on bond if he pled not guilty and exercised his right to a trial. 

  In addition to this written advisal, the judicial officer exchanged handwritten notes with 

Krebs to ask if he wished to plead guilty or not guilty (Exhibit A-2, Bates No. 001686).  Krebs 

circled the choice of “guilty.”  The judicial officer explained that Krebs would be set free and 

Krebs wrote back “ok thanks your honor.”  There was no discrimination by the judicial officer 

who accepted Krebs’ guilty plea to the ordinance violations.  Further, Krebs admits that he bit 

the security guard twice at the bus station, and that is why he pled guilty to the ordinance 

violations.      

Krebs allegation, that he pled guilty to the municipal ordinance charges because he did 

not want to spend more time in jail waiting for the court to obtain a sign language interpreter, is 
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effectively an argument that his conviction is invalid because he did not make a knowing, 

voluntary and intelligent waiver of his legal rights.  Any argument that Krebs’ conviction is 

invalid is barred by the doctrine of Heck v. Humphrey, 512 U.S. 477 (1994).  Heck bars the 

ADA and RA claims to the extent that they involve his court hearing and guilty plea, because if 

Krebs were to prevail on this basis for his claims, it would impugn the validity of his criminal 

conviction.  Heck v. Humphrey,  512 U.S. at 486, bars a plaintiff who has been convicted of a 

criminal offense from asserting a civil rights claim, when prevailing on the claim would imply 

the invalidity of his criminal conviction.  Heck provides that where a person convicted of a 

criminal offense asserts § 1983 claims based on “actions whose unlawfulness would render [the] 

conviction or sentence invalid,” the person must first obtain relief that effectively nullifies the 

underlying conviction.  512 U.S. at 486-87.  The civil rights claim must be dismissed unless the 

conviction has been invalidated.  Id.  In this case, there is no evidence that Krebs’ conviction has 

been invalidated, and therefore under the doctrine of Heck, his ADA and RA claims, to the 

extent that they involve his court hearing and guilty plea, should be dismissed. 

Burke 

 Burke’s argument that she was discriminated against because she was not provided with a 

sign language interpreter when she was arrested is without merit.  Burke does not claim that 

there was a Fourth Amendment violation, in that her arrest lacked probable cause.  Indeed, the 

evidence is undisputed that there was probable cause to arrest her.  Burke had an active and valid 

arrest warrant for a “Failure to Comply” with an Arapahoe County Court order requiring her to 

complete parenting classes.  Her admission that the arresting officers communicated to her that 
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the basis for her arrest was “contempt” was in fact correct, as shown in the Arapahoe County 

Court records. 

Burke’s argument that she was discriminated against because she was not provided with a 

sign language interpreter when she was booked into PADF is without merit, for the same reasons 

as argued above for Krebs.  There was no lack of effective communication with the booking 

officer, because there was no communication that needed to occur, but did not, and therefore no 

need for a sign language interpreter when Burke was booked into PADF.   

It is undisputed that Burke was received at PADF on August 29, 2007, at 9:19 pm, and 

that she was seen by the nurse at PADF at 10:00 pm.  Burke’s medical record documents that she 

was deaf; that she “writes well/legibly;” that she wrote to the nurse that she took insulin at 

approx 1630 prior to dinner and then was arrested before she could eat.  Burke testified that this 

information in her medical record is correct.  According to the medical record, her blood sugar 

was tested, and the result of 377 was recorded in the medical record.  The medical record 

documents that the nurse consulted with the on-call doctor before giving an insulin injection to 

Burke.  The nurse noted in the medical record that Ms. Burke received a sack lunch.  The nurse 

who screened Burke testified that the sack lunches are stored in a refrigerator at the nurses’ 

station, and are provided immediately to the inmate.  There was no lack of effective 

communication with the nurse, because there was no communication that needed to occur, but 

did not, and therefore no need for a sign language interpreter when Burke was seen by the nurse 

at PADF.  Further written communication with Burke is entirely effective, as demonstrated by 

her writing skills in her letter to the Arapahoe County Judge who presided in her misdemeanor 

child abuse case.  (Exhibit A-3, Arapahoe County Court records, Bates Nos. 001669-70).   
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It is undisputed that Burke posted a bond on August 29, 2007, at 10:36 pm, and that she 

was released from PADF on August 30, 2007, at 2:00 am.  Burke was promptly released when 

she was eligible for release.  Furthermore, she was offered the opportunity to use the TTY at the 

time of her release, but she did not have a TTY in her home.  There was no discrimination 

against her on the basis of her deafness.     

Assuming for the purpose of argument that plaintiffs could establish prima facie evidence 

of discrimination toward Vigil, Krebs and Burke, by the Denver Police Department and the 

Denver Sheriff Department, Denver is entitled to summary judgment on the compensatory 

damages claim for alleged violations of the ADA and RA because there is no prima facie 

evidence of intentional discrimination.  Denver is also entitled to summary judgment on the 

equitable claims for relief of a declaratory judgment and injunctive relief, because Krebs and 

Burke have been released from custody and Vigil is deceased, and therefore their equitable relief 

is moot.  Green v. Branson, 108 F.3d 1296, 1300 (10th Cir. 1997).      

III. The civil rights claims 

The civil rights claims against LaCabe, Lovingier, Foos, Wilson and Whitman in their 

official capacity are treated as claims against the municipality.  Pietrowski v. Town of Dibble, 

134 F.3d 1006, 1009 (10th Cir. 1998) (citing Kentucky v. Graham, 473 U.S. 159, 165-66 

(1985)).  Therefore the same elements of proof are required for the civil rights claims against the 

City and County of Denver and against LaCabe, Lovingier, Foos, Wilson and Whitman in their 

official capacity, and these defendants are collectively referred to as “Denver.”  The Third Claim 

for Relief against Denver alleges violations by LaCabe, Lovingier, and Foos (in their individual 

and official capacities) of the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments, in that they were deliberately 
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indifferent to the serious medical needs of Vigil.  The Fourth Claim for Relief against Denver 

alleges Fourteenth Amendment substantive due process violations by all individual defendants 

(in their individual and official capacities), under a theory of placing Vigil and Burke in a state-

created danger.  The Sixth Claim for Relief against Denver alleges Fourteenth Amendment 

substantive due process violations by all individual defendants (in their individual and official 

capacities), because they had a special relationship with Vigil, Krebs, and Burke. 

Plaintiffs must establish four elements of municipal liability to defeat summary judgment 

in favor of Denver on these claims for relief: (1) action by a police officer or deputy sheriff that 

constitutes a constitutional violation; (2) the officer’s action was pursuant to a longstanding 

custom or official policy; (3) a direct causal link between the custom or policy and the violation 

alleged; (4) City approval of the official policy, or deliberate indifference to plaintiff’s 

constitutional rights on the part of a specific policymaker.  Board of County Comm’rs of Bryan 

County v. Brown, 520 U.S. 397, 404 (1997); Hollingsworth v. Hill, 110 F.3d 733, 742 (10th Cir. 

1997).  If plaintiffs fail in their burden on any one element, then summary judgment must be 

entered in favor of Denver.    

As argued in the motion for summary judgment filed by LaCabe, Lovingier, Foos, 

Wilson, and Whitman, in their individual capacity, which is incorporated herein, plaintiffs fail to 

provide prima facie evidence that any of these five individuals violated the constitutional rights 

of any plaintiff, under any of the theories alleged by plaintiffs.  Hence, plaintiffs fail on the first 

element of proof to establish municipal liability, and summary judgment should enter in favor of 

Denver on these civil rights claims.  Even assuming for purposes of argument, that plaintiffs 

could establish a constitutional violation by any of these individual defendants, plaintiffs 
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nevertheless fail to provide prima facie evidence on the three additional elements of municipal 

liability for which they have the burden of proof.     

   Plaintiffs fail to establish prima facie evidence of the second element of municipal 

liability, to-wit: that the officer’s action is pursuant to a longstanding custom or official policy.  

The evidence is undisputed that the official policy of the City of Denver is that sign language 

interpreters are available 24 hours a day, seven days a week, if needed by the Denver Police 

Department or the Denver Sheriff Department.  The evidence is also undisputed that the official 

policy of the Denver Sheriff Department is that deaf inmates have the same access to a TDD 

telephone as other inmates have for using a telephone.  These policies are clearly lawful on their 

face.  The third element of a direct causal link is missing in this case, because where a municipal 

policy is lawful on its face, the municipality has not directly inflicted the injury through its own 

actions.  Board of County Comm’rs of Bryan County v. Brown, 520 U.S. at 405.      

Finally, there is no evidence showing deliberate indifference on the part of any City 

official.  The deliberate indifference standard may be satisfied when the municipality has actual 

or constructive notice that its action or failure to act is substantially certain to result in a 

constitutional violation, and it consciously or deliberately chooses to disregard the risk of harm.  

Barney v. Pulsipher, 143 F.3d 1299, 1307 (10th Cir. 1998).  Deliberate indifference may be 

shown where a violation of federal rights is a “highly predictable” or “plainly obvious” 

consequence of a municipality’s action or inaction.  Id. at 1308.   

Unconstitutional failure to train and supervise (Fifth Claim for Relief) 

A supervisor or municipality may be held liable where there is essentially a complete 

failure to train, or training that is so reckless or grossly negligent that future misconduct is almost 
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inevitable.  Meade v. Grubbs, 841 F.2d 1512, 1528 (10th Cir.1988).  Plaintiffs must establish 

five elements of municipal liability to defeat summary judgment in favor of Denver on the fifth 

claim for relief alleging unconstitutional training and supervision of police officers and deputy 

sheriffs: (1) the training or supervision was in fact inadequate; (2) action by a police officer and 

deputy sheriff that constitutes a constitutional violation; (3) the constitutional violation arose 

under circumstances that constitute a usual and recurring situation with which police officers and 

deputy sheriffs must deal; (4) the inadequate training or supervision demonstrates a deliberate 

indifference on the part of the city toward persons with whom the police officers and deputies 

come into contact, and (5) there is a direct causal link between the constitutional deprivation and 

the inadequate training or supervision.  Brown v. Gray, 227 F.3d 1278, 1286 (10th Cir. 2000).  If 

plaintiffs fail in their burden on any one element, then summary judgment must be entered in 

favor of the defendants.    

Denver will assume for the purpose of summary judgment that plaintiffs could establish 

the third element of municipal liability, to-wit, that any alleged constitutional violation occurred 

in circumstances that constitute a usual and recurring situation with which police officers and 

deputy sheriffs must deal.  However, it is Denver’s position that plaintiffs cannot establish any of 

the four additional elements of municipal liability concerning the fifth claim for relief.  First, as 

argued in the motion for summary judgment filed by LaCabe, Lovingier, Foos, Wilson and 

Whitman in their individual capacity, plaintiffs cannot establish an underlying constitutional 

violation by any of these individuals, under any of the theories alleged by plaintiffs, and those 

arguments are incorporated herein by reference.  Second, plaintiffs cannot establish the element 

for municipal liability that the training and supervision of police officers and deputy sheriffs was 
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constitutionally inadequate, such that it amounted to a complete failure to train, or training that is 

so reckless or grossly negligent that future misconduct is almost inevitable.  Meade, 841 F.2d at 

1528. 

Third, plaintiffs cannot establish the element of municipal liability that the training or 

supervision of police officers and deputy sheriffs is so inadequate that it demonstrates a 

deliberate indifference on the part of the city toward persons with whom the police officers and 

deputies come into contact.  In City of Canton v. Harris, 489 U.S. 378, 390 (1989), the Supreme 

Court described deliberate indifference as occurring when “the need for more or different 

training is so obvious, and the inadequacy so likely to result in the violation of constitutional 

rights, that the policy makers of the city can reasonably be said to have been deliberately 

indifferent to the need.”  The plaintiff must show that a specific policy maker was deliberately 

indifferent.  Brown v. Gray, 227 F.3d at 1288-1289.   

Deliberate indifference requires more than simple or even heightened negligence.  Bd. Of 

County Comm’rs of Bryan County v. Brown, 520 U.S. at 407.  It requires “an act or omission 

purposefully committed by a person who must have realized that the conduct was unnecessarily 

dangerous or which conduct was done heedlessly or recklessly, without regard to consequences, 

or without regard to the rights and safety of others.  Zuchel v. City and County of Denver, 997 

F.2d 730, 735 (10th Cir. 1993).  In the present case, there is a complete failure to show that there 

was any policy maker in the Denver Police Department or the Denver Sheriff Department or 

elsewhere within City government who was deliberately indifferent to proper training or 

supervision of police officers and deputy sheriffs, or that the need for improvement in training or 

supervision was so obvious that it implies deliberate indifference.     
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Fourth, plaintiffs cannot establish the element of municipal liability that there is a direct 

causal link between the constitutional deprivation and the inadequate training or supervision.  In 

City of Canton, the Supreme Court required a direct causal link between the municipal policy or 

custom and the alleged constitutional violation.  489 U.S. at 385.  The Court held that “the 

identified deficiency in a city’s training program must be closely related to the ultimate injury,” 

so that the deficiency “actually caused” the constitutional violation.  489 U.S. at 391.  Plaintiff 

must prove a direct causal link between the municipal action and the specific constitutional 

deprivation, such that the municipality, through its deliberate conduct, is the moving force 

behind the injury alleged.  Bd. Of County Comm’rs of Bryan County v. Brown, 520 U.S. at 404.  

Proof that an injury or accident could have been avoided if an officer had had better or more 

training is not sufficient to prove municipal liability.  City of Canton, 489 U.S. at 391.   

The strict deliberate indifference standard and the strong causation showing are heavy 

burdens for the plaintiff to meet, but these standards are set high so that municipalities are not 

liable for §1983 claims on the basis of respondeat superior.  City of Canton, 489 U.S. at 392.  In 

the present case, plaintiffs have failed to show that there is a specific deficiency in the training or 

supervision of police officers and deputy sheriffs that actually caused a violation of the plaintiffs’ 

constitutional rights.   

IV. The state negligence claims 

 The Seventh, Eighth, and Ninth Claims for Relief assert negligence claims against 

Denver which are subject to the Colorado Governmental Immunity Act, § 24-10-101 to § 24-10-

120, C.R.S. (2008) (“CGIA”).  The CGIA applies to “all actions which lie in tort or could lie in 

tort” and provides a grant of governmental immunity unless there is a specific statutory waiver in 
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the CGIA.  §§ 24-10-102, 24-10-105, 24-10-106(1), and 24-10-108, C.R.S. (2008); City of 

Colorado Springs v. Conners, 993 P.2d 1167, 1172 (Colo. 2000).  The plaintiff has the burden 

of demonstrating that governmental immunity has been waived.  Tidwell v. City and County of 

Denver, 83 P.3d 75, 85 (Colo. 2003).      

C.R.S. § 24-10-106(1) of the CGIA provides that: 

A public entity shall be immune from liability in all claims for 
injury which lie in tort or could lie in tort regardless of whether 
that may be the type of action or the form of relief chosen by the 
claimant except as provided in this section. (emphasis added) 

 
The statutory waiver that is pertinent to these claims is found in paragraph (1)(b) of  

C.R.S. § 24-10-106, which waives governmental immunity for the operation of a jail.  The term 

“operation” is defined in C.R.S.§ 24-10-103(3)(a) and (b) to mean:  

(a) “Operation” means the act or omission of a public entity or public employee in 
the exercise and performance of the powers, duties, and functions vested in them 
by law with respect to the purposes of any public…jail…. 
 
(b) The term “operation” shall not be construed to include: 
 
(I) A failure to exercise or perform any powers, duties, or functions not vested by 
law in a public entity or employee with respect to the purposes of any public 
facility set forth in paragraph (a) of this subsection (3); (emphasis added) 
 
Further, where immunity has been waived, general negligence principles apply to the 

specific tort alleged.  C.R.S. § 24-10-107 (2008) provides that: “Except as otherwise provided in 

this article, where sovereign immunity is not a bar under section 24-10-106, liability of the 

public entity shall be determined in the same manner as if the public entity were a private 

person.”   
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State wrongful death claim by Ulibarri (Eighth Claim for Relief)  

  To establish a claim based upon negligence, a plaintiff must show: (1) the defendant 

owed a legal duty to the plaintiff; (2) the defendant breached that duty; and (3) the breach of the 

duty caused the harm resulting in damages to the plaintiff.  Keller v. Koca, 111 P.3d 445, 447 

(Colo. 2005).   In determining both the existence and scope of a legal duty to take action to 

protect another, the Colorado Supreme Court has identified a number of factors including: (1) the 

existence of a special relationship between the parties; (2) the foreseeability of harm from the 

failure to take protective action; (3) the social utility of the actor’s conduct; (4) the magnitude of 

the burden of guarding against the injury; (5) the consequences of placing that burden upon the 

actor; (6) and any other relevant factors based on the competing individual and social interests 

implicated by the facts of the case.  Perreira v. State, 768 P.2d 1198, 1209 (Colo. 1989) 

(emphasis added) (analyzing the existence and scope of the legal duty of a psychiatrist who 

authorized the release of an involuntarily committed mental patient, who upon his release killed 

a police officer).   

Colorado state courts have not yet ruled on the existence and scope of the legal duty of 

jail personnel to prevent an inmate’s suicide.  In the absence of such authority, Denver argues 

that the scope of the duty to prevent an inmate’s suicide should, at a minimum, require that the 

officers were aware of a specific risk that the prisoner would commit suicide, as the Tenth 

Circuit requires in a civil rights claim.  Barrie v. Grand County, Utah, 119 F.3d 862, 869 (10th 

Cir. 1997); Estate of Hocker v. Walsh, 22 F.3d 995, 1000 (10th Cir. 1994).  This definition of the 

scope of the duty to prevent an inmate suicide takes into consideration the factors identified in 
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Perreira of a special relationship between the parties, and the foreseeability of harm from the 

failure to take protective action.       

In this lawsuit, there is no evidence that LaCabe, Lovingier or Foos was aware of a 

specific risk that Vigil would commit suicide.  There is no evidence that Vigil had ever been 

diagnosed with true suicidal ideation prior to his death.  There is no evidence that Vigil exhibited 

any suicidal behavior before he hung himself in his cell on September 27, 2005.  There is no 

evidence that at any time during his incarceration Vigil was severely depressed or had expressed 

any suicidal ideation.  His mother also testified that throughout Vigil’s entire incarceration, he 

did not communicate any problems to her, or that he was suicidal, and likewise, she did not 

report any problems to the Denver Sheriff Department concerning Vigil.   

Vigil’s initial medical screen from PADF documented that Vigil had no current or past 

mental health problems, he was not taking medications, and he did not have alcohol or drug 

addiction.  His mental status was described by the nurse as “appropriate/oriented” and his 

behavior as “calm/cooperative.”  Vigil’s classification intake questionnaire, which he signed on 

that day he was received at the county jail, documents that he had never attempted suicide, that 

he was not taking any medication, and that he did not ask to see the medical staff at the county 

jail.  This information is confirmed by his mother’s testimony that, prior to his incarceration, 

Vigil had never attempted suicide or communicated to his mother about committing suicide.   

There is no evidence from his jail medical record that he reported any problems to the 

medical staff.  In the weekly segregation nursing rounds, there were no problems reported by 

Vigil, or observed by the nurses, on August 27, 2005, September 3, 2005, September 10, 2005, 

September 17, 2005, and September 24, 2005, which was three days before his suicide. 
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According to Dr. Crum, the Medical Director for the jails, Vigil had ample opportunity to seek 

medical attention if needed.  Further, Dr. Crum reviewed the medical record and medical 

information concerning Vigil after his suicide, and concluded that there was no evidence of high 

risk behavior by Vigil that would be a warning sign of suicide, and that his suicide was not 

preventable.  Finally, it is also the expert opinion of Michael Haley, after reviewing the entire 

Denver Sheriff Department internal affairs investigation into Vigil’s suicide, that Vigil’s suicide 

was not preventable by the jail staff, nor was it predictable.  Plaintiffs fail to demonstrate the 

existence of a prima facie case of negligence, and therefore, Denver is entitled to summary 

judgment on the wrongful death claim.   

Negligence in the operation of a jail (Seventh Claim for Relief) 

The Seventh Claim for Relief (Second and Amended Supplemental Complaint, #48,  

¶ 178) alleges that Denver was negligent by committing the following acts: 

a. Isolating Mr. Vigil in the Special Needs Unit solely on the basis of his 
disability; 

 
b. Failing to provide Mr. Vigil or his family any effective way of 

communicating;  
 

c. Failing to provide Mr. Vigil with any effective way of communicating 
with his jailers; 

 
d. Failing to allow Mr. Vigil to appear before the Administrative Review 

Board despite his request to do so; 
 

e. Failing to adequately supervise Mr. Vigil; and 
 

f. Acting in a manner without due regard for the safety of Mr. Vigil. 

The statute of limitations for claims involving negligence in the operation of a jail, and 

for wrongful death, is two years.  C.R.S. § 24-10-109(5) and § 13-80-102(1)(a) and (d) (2008).  
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It is plaintiffs’ burden to show that there is a waiver of governmental immunity for each of the 

acts and omissions alleged above, and that these acts and omissions fall within the statutory 

definition of “operation” of a jail set forth in C.R.S.§ 24-10-103(3)(a) and (b).  According to this 

statutory definition, there is a waiver of governmental immunity for acts or omissions concerning 

“powers, duties and functions” that are “vested…by law,” but there is not a waiver of 

governmental immunity where those powers, duties and functions are “not vested by law.”  The 

acts described in ¶ 178 are “powers, duties, and functions” of the Denver Sheriff Department.  

However, plaintiffs have failed to state a claim of negligence in the operation of a jail, and there 

is no waiver of governmental immunity for plaintiffs’ allegations of negligence, because 

plaintiffs have not established that these same acts are “vested in [the Sheriff Department] by 

law.”    

Assuming for the purpose of argument, that plaintiffs could establish a waiver of 

governmental immunity for the acts and omissions alleged in ¶ 178 of the Second Amended and 

Supplemental Complaint, plaintiffs fail to establish by prima facie evidence any of these 

allegations.  Regarding the allegation in ¶ 172 a, as argued above in Section II, there is no prima 

facie evidence that Vigil was isolated solely on the basis of his deafness.  To the contrary, the 

evidence is undisputed that there were numerous opportunities for Vigil to interact with the jail 

staff, the nursing staff, and other inmates.  His classification in Administrative Segregation was 

based upon numerous facts that are not in dispute: his felony sex assault charge, his $100,000 

bond, his young age, and his lack of prior experience at the county jail, in addition to his 

deafness.  
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Regarding the allegation in ¶ 172 b and c, as argued above in Section II, it is undisputed 

that deaf inmates had access to TDD’s at PADF and the county jail to the same extent that all 

inmates were allowed telephone access.  There is no evidence that Vigil was ever denied the 

opportunity to use the TDD telephones at PADF or at the county jail.  To the contrary, it is 

undisputed that Vigil used a TDD telephone at PADF to call his grandparents’ home.   

Regarding the allegation in ¶ 172 d, the evidence is undisputed that there was one 

occasion, during the week of August 28, 2005, that Vigil did not meet with the Administrative 

Review Board because of time constraints (Romero Affidavit, ¶ 20).  Moreover, the defendants 

are aware of no authority which imposes a legal duty upon a jail to have a personal meeting with 

an inmate in the Administrative Review Board process.    

Regarding the allegation in ¶ 172 e, concerning an alleged failure to supervise Vigil, 

plaintiffs offer no prima facie evidence to show that, throughout the one month that Vigil was 

incarcerated at the county jail, there was a failure to adequately supervise him.  Plaintiffs have 

alleged that on the morning of his suicide, there is a lack of documentation of a deputy round for 

about 30 minutes prior to Vigil’s suicide.  The U.S. District Court in Kansas rejected a similar 

argument in a jail suicide lawsuit, and ruled that “jailers are neither obligated nor able to watch 

every inmate at every minute of the day” and that there is not a constitutional duty to monitor 

inmates constantly.  Gaston v. Ploeger, 2008 WL 4672294, at *5 (D. Kan. 2008).  Finally, the 

allegation in ¶ 172 f fails to identify any acts or omissions of negligence. 

State claim of negligent failure to train and supervise (Ninth Claim for Relief) 

The Ninth Claim for Relief (Second and Amended Supplemental Complaint, #48,  

¶ 191) alleges that Denver was negligent in training and supervising police officers and deputy 
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sheriffs concerning the same acts and omissions set forth in ¶ 172 above.  First, it is clear that 

there is no waiver of governmental immunity concerning the training and supervision of police 

officers, because there is no statutory waiver set forth in C.R.S. § 24-10-106(1) that could even 

arguably apply to the operation of a “police department.”  The waiver of governmental immunity 

in C.R.S. § 24-10-106(1)(b) that applies to the operation of a jail, also applies to the operation of 

a public hospital, and a correctional facility as defined by C.R.S. § 17-1-102, but not to the 

operation of a police department.  Nor do any of the other waivers of governmental immunity set 

forth in paragraphs (1)(a) through (h) of  C.R.S. § 24-10-106 even arguably apply to the training 

and supervision of police officers.    

Defendants contend that the waiver of governmental immunity in C.R.S. § 24-10-

106(1)(b) for the operation of a jail does not apply to a claim of negligently training and 

supervising deputy sheriffs.  Training and supervising deputies are included within the “powers, 

duties and functions” of the Sheriff Department.  However, plaintiffs have failed to state a claim 

of negligence in the operation of a jail, and there is no waiver of governmental immunity for 

plaintiffs’ allegations of negligence, because plaintiffs have not established that these same acts 

are “vested in [the Sheriff Department] by law.”    

  Assuming for the purpose of argument that there was a waiver of governmental 

immunity for this claim, plaintiffs fail to establish by prima facie evidence any of the allegations 

in ¶ 191 of the Second Amended and Supplemental Complaint, for the same reasons argued 

above concerning the identical acts and omissions alleged in ¶ 172 of the complaint.        
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Lack of evidence of proximate cause as to all negligence claims 

 In addition to the reasons argued above for granting summary judgment as to all 

negligence claims, plaintiffs have also failed to establish that any of these acts or omissions was 

the proximate cause of Vigil’s suicide.  In Colorado, a party seeking recovery in tort must 

demonstrate that the defendant’s conduct actually caused the alleged injury.  June v. Union 

Carbide Corp., __ F.3d __, 2009 WL 2569064 at *3 (10th Cir. Aug. 21, 2009) (citing Vigil v. 

Franklin, 103 P.3d 322, 325 (Colo. 2004)).  The general rule for causation in Colorado is that 

the plaintiff must prove that the alleged injury would not have occurred but for the defendant’s 

negligent conduct.  Id. (citing Kaiser Found. Health Plan v. Sharp, 741 P.2d 714, 719 (Colo. 

1987)).  Colo. Jury Instr., Civil 9:20 (4th ed.) defines a cause as follows: 

The word “cause” as used in these instructions means an act or failure to act that 
in natural and probable sequence produced the claimed injury.  It is a cause 
without which the claimed injury would not have happened. 
 

 However, any acts or omissions of the Denver Sheriff Department are not the proximate 

cause of Vigil’s death, where there is an intervening cause of his death that was not reasonably 

foreseeable by a reasonably careful person under the same or similar circumstances.  Colo. Jury 

Instr., Civil 9:20 (4th ed.).  The cause of Vigil’s death was his act of suicide, and therefore his 

suicide is the intervening cause and proximate cause of his death.  To establish proximate cause 

concerning Vigil’s suicide, plaintiffs must show that Vigil’s suicide was reasonably foreseeable 

by a reasonably careful person under the same or similar circumstances.  However, plaintiffs 

have disclosed no expert opinion by any mental health professional who ever treated Vigil for 

any mental health issues, nor an expert opinion by any qualified retained mental health 

Case 1:07-cv-01814-WDM-MJW     Document 197      Filed 09/17/2009     USDC Colorado     Page 62 of 64



 63 

professional, within a reasonable degree of medical certainty, concerning the proximate cause of 

Vigil’s suicide.     

CONCLUSION 

Defendants, CITY AND COUNTY OF DENVER, and ALVIN LACABE, WILLIAM 

LOVINGIER, RON D. FOOS, GARY WILSON and GERALD R. WHITMAN, in their 

official capacity, respectfully request that the Court enter summary judgment in their favor on all 

claims for relief.  Apart from the dismissal on the merits of all claims for relief, Defendant Ron 

D. Foos respectfully requests that all claims against him in his official capacity be dismissed as 

moot because he has retired from the Denver Sheriff Department.  

Respectfully submitted this 17th day of September 2009. 

     SUZANNE A. FASING 
     THOMAS G. BIGLER 
     Assistant City Attorneys 
 
 
 

     By: s/ Suzanne A. Fasing 
    Suzanne A. Fasing         

       Denver City Attorney's Office, Litigation Section 
      201 W. Colfax Ave., Dept. 1108 
      Denver, CO  80202 
      Telephone: (720) 913-3100 
      Facsimile:   (720) 913-3182 
      E-mail: dlefiling.litigation@ci.denver.co.us 
      Attorney for Defendants 
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CERTIFICATE OF MAILING (CM/ECF) 
 
 I hereby certify that on the 17th day of September 2009, I electronically filed the 
foregoing MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT, with the Clerk of Court using the 
CM/ECF system which will send notification of such filing to the following e-mail address: 
 
Paula Greisen 
greisen@kinggreisen.com 
 
Laura Ellen Schwartz 
schwartz@kinggreisen.co 
 
Carrie Ann Lucas 
clucas@ccdconline.org 
 
Amy Farr Robertson 
arob@foxrob.com 
 
Kevin William Williams 
kwilliams@ccdconline.org 
       
 
 
      s/Marilyn M. Montoya_______________ 
      Office of the Denver City Attorney 
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